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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Good afternoon.  I

          3  want to welcome everyone to this afternoon's hearing

          4  of the City Council's Committee on Transportation.

          5  My name is John Liu, and I have the honor of

          6  chairing this Committee.

          7                 Let me first explain the unique setup

          8  we have here this afternoon.  As most people are

          9  aware, we are, in the City Council, on the verge of

         10  officially passing the budget, which was agreed upon

         11  with the Mayor last night.  And so we are on call,

         12  we could go back into session at a moment's notice,

         13  which is why this room, the Council Chambers, are

         14  set up this way so that we can reconvene the session

         15  at any moment.  And so I ask everyone, all the

         16  participants, today, patience in dealing with the

         17  situation with us.  And so there are plenty of seats

         18  towards the rear, along the sides, and there are a

         19  few more seats right here in the middle aisle, if

         20  anybody cares to join us here.  You are all welcome

         21  to take these seats, and if the crowd gets bigger,

         22  there are many more seats upstairs in the balcony,

         23  which has a very fine view of these Chambers.

         24                 Today, we will be considering two

         25  bills that would have an impact upon New York City's
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          2  For- Hire Vehicle and Taxicab Industry.  The

          3  licensing of such vehicles and their drivers is

          4  regulated by the Taxi and Limousine Commission.  We

          5  will shortly hear from the Chairman and Commissioner

          6  of the TLC, Matthew Daus. Thank you very much, Matt,

          7  for taking the time out to personally appear at

          8  today's hearing.  I know it has been a pretty tough

          9  day.

         10                 One of the bills on today's agenda is

         11  Intro. No. 178, sponsored by Council Member Diana

         12  Reyna, a member of this Committee.  The bill relates

         13  to defective trouble lights on for hire vehicles.

         14  Trouble lights are emergency or distress signals

         15  that are mounted both on the front and rear of

         16  for-hire vehicles. Obviously, safety is the reason

         17  that the TLC has mandated that every for-hire

         18  vehicle must have an operational trouble light

         19  system.

         20                 The TLC Rule that requires trouble

         21  lights, also imposes a fine of $100 for having a

         22  broken trouble light, as well as suspension until

         23  the condition is corrected.

         24                 Intro. No. 178 would permit the fine

         25  to be dismissed, so long as proof of repair is
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          2  provided to the TLC within 15 days of the issuance

          3  of the summonses or the notification of the

          4  violation.  The bill reflects the fact that trouble

          5  lights may blow out during the course of vehicle

          6  operations through no fault of the driver or the

          7  base from which the vehicle is operating.  There

          8  does not appear to be any justification for

          9  disallowing the avoidance of a fine, so long as the

         10  condition is expeditiously repaired, and proof of

         11  such repair is timely provided to the Taxi and

         12  Limousine Commission.

         13                 Proposed No. 195- A, sponsored by

         14  Council Miguel Martinez, who is also a member of

         15  this Committee, would create a Drivers' Advisory

         16  Board.  The concept behind the formation of such a

         17  Board is to provide an official forum in which

         18  issues pertinent to the drivers of vehicles of all

         19  types, licensed by the TLC, may be presented and

         20  complaints registered.  The purpose of the Board

         21  would be to hear any driver issues or complaints,

         22  and advise the TLC of specific problems in the

         23  industry, and to make recommendations regarding such

         24  issues to the TLC.  The bill provides that the

         25  membership of this Board is to be made up of members
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          2  of the public, the owners, and the organizations

          3  that advocate for drivers, and the agencies that are

          4  charged with enforcing TLC Rules that impose

          5  obligations on drivers.

          6                 Over the past few years, I think that

          7  the tone of the prior Administration against the

          8  drivers of for- hire vehicles in this City, the tone

          9  had gotten increasingly negative.  And as the

         10  Committee for Transportation for the City Council,

         11  we are most concerned with maintaining the

         12  infrastructure of the transportation systems in this

         13  city.  The for- hire vehicles are integral to that

         14  mass transportation infrastructure.  We want to make

         15  sure that the drivers of these for- hire vehicles

         16  are treated fairly and with due process and respect.

         17    Because they are integral, they are important to

         18  making sure that this part of the mass transit

         19  system here in New York City - -  I should not say

         20  mass transit, I should say the transportation

         21  infrastructure of this City is working properly, and

         22  therefore, making it easy for New Yorkers to conduct

         23  their business, to provide economic opportunities to

         24  New Yorkers, and also, in many cases, to get people

         25  to and from work.
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          2                 So, at this point, I am very happy

          3  that we have this opportunity to hear both of these

          4  bills.  And, at this point, let me welcome the TLC

          5  Commissioner and Chairman, Matthew Daus.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Chairman Liu,

          8  thank you for inviting the TLC to testify.  I, also,

          9  would like to thank you personally for changing the

         10  time of the hearing to accommodate our schedules,

         11  because we did have a Public Commission meeting

         12  today at the TLC.

         13                 I would like to change the first two

         14  words of the testimony from good morning to good

         15  afternoon.  Good afternoon, Chairman, Council

         16  members, it is good to see you.  My name is Matthew

         17  Daus.  And to my left is Barbara Schecter, our

         18  Deputy Commissioner for Policy and Programs; and to

         19  my right is Peter Maiser (phonetic), our General

         20  Counsel.

         21                 I am here to give testimony on

         22  Intros. 195- A and 178.  I would like to deal with

         23  195- A first, which is a bill that I support and

         24  commend Council Member Martinez for bringing it to

         25  our attention.
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          2                 At the outset, I would like to say

          3  that having met many thousands of licensed drivers,

          4  and having visited a large portion of our licensed

          5  bases and fleets, I am someone who certainly knows

          6  and appreciates, as does the Council, the value of

          7  industry- specific input and feedback.  In fact, in

          8  the aftermath of September 11, when relevant

          9  experience and innovative thinking were crucial to

         10  the rebound of our regulated industries, I made

         11  driver outreach and consultation cornerstones of my

         12  administration of the TLC.

         13                 The TLC, having worked closely with

         14  its other advisory boards for many years, is fully

         15  cognizant of the operational and created benefits to

         16  be gained by close consultation and collaboration

         17  with those who are willing to share their knowledge

         18  based on first- hand experience.  More recently, we

         19  have conducted driver focus groups on a regular

         20  basis, and from these meetings we have gained

         21  helpful guidance and perspective on the industries

         22  we regulate.  Although, we plan to continue with

         23  these informal meetings, it is important to have a

         24  board with official sanction in the law as well.

         25  And just to give you, and I could not agree with you
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          2  more about respect, and give you my assurances that

          3  we respect the drivers, I meet with them regularly.

          4  I can tell you that morale is probably higher than

          5  it has ever been with many of our drivers, and but

          6  that does not mean that we should not do more. I am

          7  getting very few complaints as compared to

          8  compliments. Complaints are down at the agency about

          9  drivers and compliments are up.

         10                 And I also, just want to bring to

         11  your attention, two issues that are going to help

         12  drivers to talk about the TLC's driver oriented

         13  focus.  And they came out of our driver focus

         14  groups, that is where I got these ideas from.  The

         15  focus group concept came from my meeting drivers, by

         16  taking cabs and taking livery vehicles, talking to

         17  them and inviting them into my office. We would have

         18  small groups of five or ten drivers, and we would,

         19  you know, bring even more in every month.  And two

         20  issues came to my attention that were very, very

         21  important to all the drivers.

         22                 First of all, was health insurance,

         23  and secondly, was the price of automobile insurance.

         24

         25                 Well, I am happy to say that thanks
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          2  to the efforts of the drivers in bringing these

          3  matters to our attention, and the TLC's talking to

          4  the drivers, we have, since the beginning of the

          5  year, with the HealthStat program registered close

          6  to 1,000 drivers with health insurance.  And we are

          7  going to keep going strong working with the Mayor's

          8  Office, also, working with the Housing and

          9  Preservation Development Agency.

         10                 Secondly, I am happy to announce

         11  here, today, that I have reached a formal agreement

         12  with American Transit Insurance Company to give a 15

         13  percent discount to all drivers who qualify. And we

         14  will be making a more formal announcement, after I

         15  hear from a few of the other insurance companies

         16  that have been still holding out on reaching an

         17  agreement.  And that is something that we had

         18  discussed at the last session.  And that will be a

         19  significant savings of up to $900 for drivers, to

         20  get money back in their pockets, and it will also

         21  encourage them to drive safely.

         22                 Those are two concrete ideas that

         23  came out of driver focus groups.  I will continue

         24  the driver focus groups.  However, I think it is a

         25  great idea, like I said earlier, to have an
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          2  institutionalized Board to give drivers the respect

          3  that they deserve.

          4                 While we are in full agreement with

          5  the Council on the concept of the Driver Advisory

          6  Board, I would like to express our idea of its

          7  optimal structure and operation.  From our driver

          8  focus group meetings we have learned the importance

          9  of inviting driver representatives from every

         10  distinct facet of our regulated industries.  This

         11  includes, on the medallion taxicab side, individual

         12  owner- operators, who own and operate their own

         13  medallions.  And also, DOVs, which are known as

         14  Driver Owned Vehicles.  These are drivers who

         15  purchased the vehicle, but rent the medallion, and

         16  lease the medallion, usually on a long- term basis,

         17  sort of the next step to a small business owner,

         18  short of holding an actual licensed medallion.  And

         19  we also have short- term leasees, these are drivers

         20  that usually are new, they enter the industry, they

         21  oftentimes work for the fleets for 12- hour shifts.

         22  And they will rent a cab for a 12- hour shift and

         23  bring it back.

         24                 In the for- hire realm, and for- hire

         25  meaning, you know, black cars, liveries, and also,
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          2  limousines, we would advise both individual owner-

          3  operators, as well as fleet drivers, be included.

          4  We have the same dynamic in that industry.  Probably

          5  the overwhelming majority of the industry involves

          6  drivers who own and operate their own vehicles that

          7  affiliate with licensed bases.  But then there also

          8  are a small number of fleets out there that own

          9  their own vehicles, but lease to drivers on a short-

         10  term basis, or actually employ them as employees on

         11  the payroll.  So we would like to have

         12  representation from that type of driver, as well.

         13                 Black car driver members should

         14  include franchisees and cooperative members.  There

         15  are two forms of black car operating schemes under

         16  the law.  One is to have a franchise, and one is to

         17  have a cooperative.  So, we would, of course, like

         18  to get representation of some black car drivers that

         19  are franchised and cooperative holders.

         20                 And also, we would like to include

         21  the paratransit, commuter van, and limousine

         22  industry drivers.  And as of today, since the

         23  Commission did unanimously pass a law- regulating

         24  super, duper stretch limos up to 20 passengers, we

         25  would like to get a super stretch limo driver, as
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          2  well.

          3                 Additional factors, however, I think,

          4  should be considered when choosing Board members.

          5                 First, I think years of experience as

          6  a driver is relevant.  It would be nice to get a mix

          7  of drivers who are new, and some who have been

          8  driving for a while.

          9                 Good moral character.

         10                 A satisfactory driving record.

         11                 And also, Borough of concentration of

         12  residents, if applicable, should be relevant.

         13                 When going through the different

         14  types of drivers, I think we should take a look at,

         15  when appointing members, where they live, you know,

         16  what type of base they work for, and make sure that

         17  we also check out their driving record.  I think

         18  what we want to do is get the drivers who are the

         19  best drivers, who have good records on the Board.

         20                 The latter criterion should be

         21  applied with some flexibility, and that is the

         22  Borough concentration or residents. And we should

         23  try, I believe, to avoid a rigid structure.  Yet, to

         24  achieve a balance of representation that properly

         25  reflects the City as a whole.
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          2                 We recommend that the number of Board

          3  members be capped at 20 rather than 15.  This would

          4  allow for the flexibility and growth for attracting

          5  new and vital members, while limiting the potential

          6  of a large and unwieldy Board.  I mean, one problem

          7  that I might foresee if there is a very involved

          8  appointment process that one of our driver members

          9  chooses to leave and go to another profession, or

         10  decides not to drive anymore, no longer be a member.

         11  And I think it would be, you know, very time

         12  consuming to constantly have an appointment process

         13  involving the Mayor and the Council.  So here is

         14  what I am recommending:

         15                 I would suggest that the Council more

         16  effectively utilize the TLC's many years of

         17  expertise in the area of its regulated industries.

         18  As the language currently reads of the bill, the

         19  City Council's Borough Delegations would choose a

         20  total of 10 representatives, and the Mayor another

         21  five.

         22                 The TLC, in my opinion, should be

         23  relied on in the interest of efficiency, to select

         24  and appoint Board members.  All of whom we

         25  recommend, be a current or former driver licensee of
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          2  the TLC.  An important lessons of our driver focus

          3  groups has been the expressed needs of drivers to

          4  communicate with each other, to build trust based

          5  upon common experience, and to share thoughts and

          6  perceptions that come only from the days and years

          7  of functioning on the job.

          8                 We recommend that any driver

          9  currently or formerly licensed be permitted to apply

         10  to the TLC for membership on the Board, and at that

         11  the Counsel be encouraged to recommend as many

         12  members as they deem necessary to the TLC.  I think,

         13  certainly, there is plenty of representation from

         14  organizations on our Boards. We have that now on our

         15  subject matter boards that are mandated by local

         16  law, including the Taxicab Advisory Board, the

         17  Livery Advisory Board, and the Disability Advisory

         18  Board.  I think this group should be drivers,

         19  nothing but drivers.

         20                 Finally, in addition to the matters

         21  proposed by the Council as topics for Board

         22  discussion, we suggest that the members be

         23  authorized to advise the Commission on any other

         24  matters, "any other matters that are deemed

         25  relevant," subject to the discretion of the Agency
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          2  Chair.

          3                 I would like to now turn your

          4  attention to Intro. 178.  The Council's philosophy

          5  here in one the TLC can appreciate. This is the

          6  trouble light law.  It is supportive of providing

          7  our licensees with an opportunity to correct the

          8  minor violation without penalty rather than having

          9  to pay a fine.  We agree with this approach, in

         10  cases involving minor infractions.  In fact, we

         11  currently operate a "Notice to Correct" program

         12  allowing licensees to correct certain lesser

         13  infractions within 10 business days without penalty.

         14    Under this program, the TLC issues approximately

         15  12,000 Notice to Correct per year.  Typical

         16  conditions resulting in a Notice to Correct are

         17  those having no bearing upon safety, such as

         18  inoperative air conditioning or cosmetic defects in

         19  the vehicle's body.

         20  In the case of defective trouble lights, which are

         21  designed to alert police officers of a potential

         22  threat, however, we must disagree with the Council's

         23  proposal, and err on the side of safety for the

         24  drivers.  Vehicle owners are responsible for

         25  ensuring their medallion taxicabs or for- hire

                                                            17

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  vehicles are equipped with trouble lights, but they

          3  are for the protection and safety of the driver.

          4  Driver's protection must be ensured 100 percent of

          5  the time; there is little room for compromise here.

          6  To allow a 15- day period, or for that matter, any

          7  period without this potential life- saving device

          8  would be a disservice to our drivers.

          9                 We have another concern, considering

         10  a defective or missing trouble light as a "Notice to

         11  Correct" item would give vehicle owners no incentive

         12  to ensure the continuous operation of the trouble

         13  light.  And it is important to point out that

         14  summons goes to the owner of the vehicle, not to the

         15  driver, unless the driver also owns the vehicle.

         16  Maintaining the status of this regulation is a

         17  summonsable offense with a fine of $100 is key to

         18  conveying its importance and to impressing upon

         19  vehicle owners the necessity of continuous

         20  compliance.  Any lesser penalty could create a

         21  strong disincentive for owners to comply with this

         22  crucial mandate.

         23                 And before I conclude, I would just

         24  like to add that, you know, sometimes drivers and

         25  owners may say, we do not like to get summonses, we
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          2  want to get notices, and I could not agree more in

          3  philosophy with that.  But I do not want to see

          4  anything happen to anybody, and anybody getting

          5  hurt.  I think it is a small price to pay to issue a

          6  summons and force compliance to ensure that that

          7  vehicle is not on the road for one day when

          8  something could happen.  And the Police Department

          9  really is the appropriate authority to consult on

         10  this subject and on this bill, and I would certainly

         11  recommend that.  But I can tell you, it is clear,

         12  based on our discussions with them a few days ago,

         13  that there have been incidents where the trouble

         14  light, which lights and blinks on both the front and

         15  the back of the vehicle has led to situations where

         16  drivers were saved or protected.  And I would

         17  strongly urge the Council, before passing any

         18  legislation out of Committee or otherwise, to

         19  consult with the Police Department of the City of

         20  New York.  They were unaware of the legislation

         21  until a few days ago, and they are, however, based

         22  on our discussions with them, willing to give their

         23  insight on the bill.  But I can tell you that the

         24  Administration and the Police Department, based on

         25  our conversations does oppose this legislation.
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          2                 So, and I offer our Counsel, Peter

          3  Maiser, to work with Mitch Schwartz and the Counsel

          4  to your Committee, as well as the Legislative

          5  Affairs Office and the Police Department to work on

          6  draft legislation, on the City's draft legislation.

          7  We would be happy to sit down with you, especially

          8  on the first bill that we just discussed, where we

          9  have some substantive recommendations as to

         10  language, and we would like to sit down and talk to

         11  you about it, or help you draft it, if you need the

         12  assistance.

         13                 But, again, thank you for the

         14  opportunity to testify.  I would be happy to answer

         15  any questions that you have.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you,

         17  Commissioner Daus.  Let me, before we go to

         18  questions from members, introduce members of the

         19  Committee and the City Council, who are here with

         20  us.  We have Council Member Oliver Koppell, Council

         21  Member Diana Reyna, Council Member Simcha Felder.

         22  To my left, we have Council Member James Sanders,

         23  Jr., and to my immediate left, Council Member Miguel

         24  Martinez.  And to my right, we have Council Member

         25  Joe Addabbo, and Council Member Reverend Ruben Diaz.

                                                            20

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 We have a question from Councilman

          3  Koppell.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I understand

          5  that you have a program now, from your testimony,

          6  where you issue summonses that are conditional, as

          7  is proposed by this legislation.  And if people

          8  correct by the time of the hearing, or they provide

          9  proof of correction, than the fine is waived.

         10                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  That is correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  You have

         12  that program now.

         13                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Right.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  What are the

         15  statistics on that program on how many people still

         16  get fine, and do not correct the violation?

         17                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Well, I can give

         18  you, I do not have statistics available on that, and

         19  we have been trying to get that information.  So it

         20  is a good question, we can get it to you within the

         21  next few days.  We have to do a computer run.  But I

         22  have the overall number of summonses, and I would

         23  like to share that with you.

         24                 For trouble lights, in particular,

         25  for Fiscal Year 2001, there were 2,182 summonses
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          2  issued, these are for trouble lights.  Fiscal Year

          3  2002, there were 1,803.  Now those are just for-

          4  hire vehicles summonses, livery and black car.

          5                 On the medallion side, and there is

          6  significant enforcement out there for the

          7  medallions.  For Fiscal Year 2001 we had 20, and

          8  Fiscal Year 2002 we had 23.

          9                 So based on the stats, even though

         10  there are more, many more for- hire vehicles,

         11  Council member, we believe that this is a problem of

         12  non- compliance for trouble lights mostly on the

         13  side of liveries and black cars.  The yellow

         14  industry, based upon the information we have, seems

         15  to be much more compliant.

         16                 But we would be happy to get you the

         17  information on the Notices to Correct.  But just to

         18  give you a few examples, we had the inoperable air

         19  conditioning, that is a candidate for under our

         20  rules for a Notice to Correct.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  And what

         22  happens there?

         23                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Well, we would

         24  issue a summons and they would have 10 days under

         25  our rules.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Right, and

          3  do they then correct it?

          4                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Well that is the

          5  information that we are trying to gather.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Well, what

          7  you are telling me now is, by your statistics that

          8  you gave me, is that thousands of people are

          9  ignoring the current law, where they get a $100 fine

         10  and they cannot correct it.  So it is not working

         11  great, it would seem to me.

         12                 I mean, if you told me, well, it's

         13  working so great when we give this $100 fine, so

         14  that everybody always has their light in good order,

         15  then I might be sympathetic.  But you are telling me

         16  that it does not work that great.  And $100 to one

         17  of these guys, is probably the whole earnings for

         18  the day.  And, if in fact, in your other, where you

         19  do not even have the statistics in your other

         20  program, where they are allowed to correct it, if in

         21  fact that works, it should work here.  And maybe

         22  even you could say, maybe the fine should even be

         23  bigger, maybe you could come back to us and say, I

         24  am not saying I advocate this, but maybe you could

         25  come back and say, well, okay, we will go along with
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          2  it, but make it $200 if you do not correct it.

          3  Because if you correct it, you do not need to pay

          4  anything.

          5                 But to come here and say that you

          6  should not get a chance to correct this, when under

          7  the current law you are telling me that thousands of

          8  people ignore it anyway, and you do not have

          9  statistics that shows what happens in the other

         10  cases, maybe in the other cases, people all correct

         11  it.

         12                 I mean, if you told me that it is

         13  going to cost me $100, I would go and correct it,

         14  because I would not take a chance to have to be

         15  paying $100.

         16                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Well, we will get

         17  you the statistics.  But I have to say that the

         18  statistics would not persuaded me to make sure that

         19  we do everything we can to ensure that a driver's

         20  life is not lost, and that could happen.  I do not

         21  think anybody wants that on their conscience.  This

         22  is a very, very different type of violation than an

         23  air conditioner that does not work.

         24                 I would not want to have on anyone's

         25  conscience in the government that we would allow 10
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          2  days to correct a condition, and then if the driver

          3  does not get, but a few days to correct it,

          4  continues to drive, and then gets killed or gets

          5  involved in a robbery, and they do not have the

          6  means to protect themselves.

          7                 So, I have to say, the statistics, in

          8  my opinion, are irrelevant to that position.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  No, you are

         10  telling me that 2,000 drivers ignore the current

         11  law, they are not irrelevant.  So, the dangers that

         12  you are talking about are existing right now.

         13                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Well, it's one of

         14  zero tolerance.  Whether you have a zero tolerance

         15  policy or not.  I mean, I think it is helpful to

         16  look at the statistics to see whether the program

         17  works or does not work.  But this is not notices,

         18  this is summonses.  Under the existing system for

         19  trouble lights, in particular, I think the initial

         20  question you asked was, other than trouble lights,

         21  right?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Yes.

         23                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Because I said I

         24  had a notice  -

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Yes, other
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          2  than trouble lights.

          3                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  That is

          4  information - -

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Defective

          6  air conditioning, you mentioned, is one where you

          7  would have 10 days to fix it.  I am wondering, how

          8  many people actually fix it?  Maybe people ignore

          9  the summonses, and just become scofflaws, and maybe

         10  if they had a chance to correct it, instead of

         11  ignoring the summonses, they would correct it.

         12                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  You know what it

         13  is also, we do not inspect, right now, FHVs at our

         14  inspection facility.  I can tell you that clearly

         15  the compliance with the yellow cab industry on

         16  trouble lights and others is because the TLC does

         17  inspect, three times a year, at its facility, yellow

         18  cabs.  So I think that probably has something to do

         19  with the numbers, Council member.

         20                 And we also did some analysis of the

         21  conviction rates.  Did you get that?

         22                 MR. MAISER:  Yes, I have that.  Just

         23  to walk you through some of the conviction rates for

         24  Fiscal Year 2001 and 2002, and bear in mind that

         25  there are approximately three times as many for-
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          2  hire vehicles as there are yellow medallion

          3  taxicabs.  And the requirement exists and the

          4  penalty exists on the both industries, and the

          5  penalties are identical, it is $100 and suspension

          6  until compliance.

          7                 For the last two years, on the

          8  medallion side there were, in Fiscal Year 2001,

          9  there were 23 summonses issued.  And in Fiscal Year

         10  2002, there were 20 summonses issued.  So we would

         11  expect that we would see about three times as many

         12  summonses issued in a for- hire vehicle industry.

         13  In fact, the for- hire vehicle industry, as the

         14  Commissioner said, in Fiscal Year 2001, there were

         15  2,182 summonses.  They resulted in 1,089

         16  convictions, or a conviction rate of about 49.9

         17  percent.  That does not mean that there was

         18  necessarily compliance at any given time.  Although,

         19  they responded at the time that they came in for the

         20  hearing and were adjudicated guilty at $100, if in

         21  fact there was still no compliance, the vehicle

         22  license would be placed on suspension.  But

         23  obviously, the number means that at the time of the

         24  issuance of the summons, the trouble light was not

         25  working.
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          2                 In the present, Fiscal Year 2002,

          3  there were 1,803 summonses issued, of which 927 had

          4  been adjudicated to date, with 545 resulting in

          5  guilty.  So of those adjudicated the conviction rate

          6  is about 60 percent.  The other 900 summonses would

          7  be summonses that had been issued and that have not

          8  been heard yet, that were issued some time this

          9  year, but the hearing date is a date in the future.

         10                 With respect to the Notice program, I

         11  think, the figure was what, about 10,000 notices to

         12  correct.  Now, we do not break that down by type of

         13  violation, so we cannot say for any specific

         14  violation.  For example, air conditioning, or

         15  talking taxi meter, or other violations for which a

         16  Notice can be issued, how many complied.  Because

         17  the rule violation for failure to comply with the

         18  Notice is the same, so there is one rule violation

         19  that covers all failure to comply with Commission

         20  directives, whether it's a notice to correct a

         21  defect or any other directive from the conviction

         22  from the conviction.  So it would be one large

         23  number, which we cannot break down statistically

         24  between types of violations.

         25                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  I believe,
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          2  Barbara, wanted to also.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHECTER:  Yes,

          4  if I may, Councilman.  Our concern here is that with

          5  the summons program in which there is a fine, if

          6  found guilty, of $100 and suspension until

          7  compliance, we are able to issue around 2,000

          8  summonses a year.  Our concern is that if this

          9  becomes a Notice to Correct problem, the incidence

         10  of non- compliance would be even higher than that.

         11  And we can see the numbers on the Fiscal Year 2002

         12  issuance versus 2001 are decreasing, so we see an

         13  increase in compliance with the summons program.

         14                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Yes, I think you

         15  are probably right.  If we look at those numbers,

         16  and we found out that the Notice program for other

         17  types of violations is a failure, than all the

         18  reason that we should not do it.  I guess that is my

         19  point.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  That is my

         21  point.

         22                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Right, okay, we

         23  will take credit for it.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  If it is a

         25  success, than you should do it.  If it is a failure,

                                                            29

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  well then, okay - -

          3                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  But it is always

          4  more severe to give a summons.  I mean, I think

          5  there is more teeth to a law when you have to pay a

          6  fine and you will be suspended if you don't, than

          7  issuing a notice and having to go through the

          8  administrative expense of doing that, having a

          9  system in place to correct it where we spend City

         10  resources to do that, and then issue a summons

         11  anyway, which happens often.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  If you get a

         13  summons, then you are called to a hearing?  If you

         14  get a summons right now, then you are called to a

         15  hearing.

         16                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Right.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  How long is

         18  that hearing, when is that hearing?

         19                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  You mean time

         20  frame from the --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Yes.

         22                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Well it is

         23  usually, at least, 15 days.  I mean, I think there

         24  is actually a rule on that, right, correct?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Can it be
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          2  postponed?

          3                 MR. MAISER:  You mean the number of

          4  days from the time that a summons is issued until

          5  the hearing is held?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Yes.

          7                 MR. MAISER:  Normally, it is about 30

          8  days.

          9                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  But there is a

         10  legal requirement in our rules that it cannot be

         11  less, we have to give, at least, 15 days notice.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Right, well,

         13  that actually sustains what I am suggesting.  If you

         14  gave them 10 days to correct it, they will not think

         15  that they might be able to beat the summons, which

         16  they might think now.  They would not put it off for

         17  15 days or 30 days or postpone it.  They would have

         18  10 days to correct it, and if they did not correct

         19  it in 10 days, they would get the fine.  I think you

         20  might find a higher rate of compliance, not a lower

         21  rate of compliance.

         22                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Okay.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Furthermore,

         24  you know, $100 to you and I, may not be a lot of

         25  money.  To one of these drivers, it may be a whole
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          2  day's pay.

          3                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Okay, but it is

          4  not to the driver; it is to the owner of the

          5  vehicle, which could be a base.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  And they

          7  probably charge the driver.

          8                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Well, you see,

          9  you are making some points, and we would be happy

         10  to, you know, talk to you further about it.  And

         11  they are very valid in terms of statistics that

         12  would be helpful.  We just, our systems do not have

         13  the ability in such short notice, because we did not

         14  have much time to prepare testimony, but we will in

         15  the next couple of days.  And I would like to give

         16  that information to you, if you do not mind, it

         17  would be helpful.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I think it

         19  would be very important to know whether it works.

         20  If you tell me it does not work, that would go a

         21  long way to convince me.

         22                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  And you know

         23  what, in philosophy, I think it is a great thing.

         24  And I have said this publicly and I have spoken to

         25  the Counsel, and I know Council Member Reyna's heart
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          2  is in the right place on this bill.  I just, I want

          3  to err on the side of being cautious on this, and

          4  err on the side of making sure that we do not lose

          5  one life, that is my concern.

          6                 If there is a better system to put in

          7  place, we are all for it.  But based upon what we

          8  know now, I would recommend that we hold off on this

          9  and study it further, and also, consult with the

         10  Police Department.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  Council

         12  Member Diana Reyna.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Thank you, Mr.

         14  Chair, and thank you, Commissioner, for your kind

         15  words.

         16                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  You are welcome.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  I do have my

         18  heart in the right place, and often enough I try and

         19  do that and be consistent with it.  But I also have

         20  some practicality issues with the system you have in

         21  place right now.

         22                 I just wanted to be able to ask you a

         23  question, before I continue on this particular

         24  matter.

         25                 Defective cameras, do you inspect
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          2  often enough where, right now, livery drivers have

          3  installed their cameras.  If that camera is

          4  defective and they have not noticed, how do you

          5  catch them to correct that problem, what is the

          6  process?

          7                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  It is a summons;

          8  my staff is telling me it is a summons.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  It is a

         10  summons with an opportunity to go and fix the

         11  problem?

         12                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  No, it is the

         13  same type of philosophy.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  And what is

         15  the fine?

         16                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  The fine for, I

         17  think, what is it?  One second.

         18                 MR. MAISER:  Three hundred.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Three hundred

         20  dollars.

         21                 MR. MAISER:  And suspension of the

         22  license, if there is no compliance.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  And suspension

         24  of a license.

         25                 MR. MAISER:  Yes, not at the time the
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          2  summons is issued, but at the time of the hearing,

          3  if the correction still has not been made at the

          4  time of the hearing, the license is suspended.

          5                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  That, plus the

          6  part, you know there is an option for a partition,

          7  which we feel is a very, very good deterrent.  So

          8  they are all kind of in the same category, the

          9  trouble lights combined with the partition combined

         10  with the camera.  And many of the luxury sedans

         11  often opt for the camera, because, you know, a lot

         12  of them do not do cash business, they, by law, have

         13  to have at least 90 percent of their business in

         14  voucher with corporate accounts, so there is less of

         15  a risk there.  So they usually opt for the camera

         16  because they do not want an unwieldy partition.

         17                 But clearly it saves lives, and they

         18  are all in the same category, I guess,

         19  theoretically.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  I just wanted

         21  to ask because when I look at a day's work, my

         22  father is a livery driver, and if he has a defective

         23  camera, a broken traffic light, you are looking at

         24  $400 worth of fines all in one day's work.  And that

         25  is probably a whole week's, half a pay week, without
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          2  the opportunity of, as a good citizen going, fixing

          3  it, giving him the opportunity, he loses a whole

          4  day's work, probably two days work, in order to get

          5  the problem fixed.  He has to work in order to get

          6  the problem fixed, but he is losing 16 hours

          7  already.  So we are not helping the driver, or there

          8  is no incentive, as far as I see, to fix the

          9  problem.  Because when you go and fix the problem,

         10  you are losing a whole day's work.  So they are not

         11  only paying $100 fine, but they are losing a day's

         12  pay, as well.  I just wanted you to see it from that

         13  perspective.

         14                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Well there is

         15  another way to approach this, and we stopped the

         16  process of issuing summonses to bases.  It may be an

         17  interesting idea to actually make sure that the

         18  bases ensure that the drivers have this equipment

         19  operable, and if they do not, maybe we should issue

         20  the fines to the bases, who are much more able to

         21  pay the fine.

         22                 I mean we went the other way, there

         23  was a system we had in place to ensure

         24  accountability, which was stopped temporarily, which

         25  could be restarted again.  And that was to issue
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          2  summonses both to the vehicle owner and to the base.

          3    I stopped that system because I thought the

          4  responsibility should really be with the person who

          5  owns the vehicle, whether they are driving it or

          6  not.  But that may be something you might want to

          7  think about.

          8                 I understand where you are coming

          9  from.  I just feel as a regulator, it is very, very

         10  important, even if it does cause someone to lose

         11  their entire's day pay, that they take every ounce

         12  of their effort to make sure that those systems are

         13  working.  And go out of their way to check that

         14  equipment, even more than other equipment.  And

         15  philosophically, I have said time and time again,

         16  that I am open to notices of correct, but for more

         17  minor and less safety related effects.  And I will

         18  give you a couple of examples.

         19                 In our rules, we have a notice to

         20  correct in 10 days, rule for the light not working

         21  properly in the back of a yellow cable, for

         22  instance.  Where the hack license is illuminated in

         23  a ray card.  I think that is something that it does

         24  not pose a safety issue, necessarily.  The talking

         25  taxi device, there is a rule where if your talking
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          2  taxi is not working, if you are a yellow cab driver,

          3  you have 10 days to fix it.  If your ray card is not

          4  readable, if there is something wrong with that, or

          5  if you have unauthorized markings or specifications

          6  on your vehicle, like a sticker for a rock group or

          7  something in a place where it should not be, that

          8  you would get a notice to correct that defect.

          9                 So, philosophically, my firm opinion,

         10  I respectfully disagree with you on this.  My firm

         11  opinion, that for those types of violations, we

         12  should be moving in a direction of reasonableness.

         13  Someone should not lose a day's pay over a talking

         14  taxi that is not working.  But if it means that

         15  someone will stand to lose money by paying a summons

         16  because a safety related device is not working, I am

         17  willing to say, hey, it is worth it to make sure

         18  that that driver and vehicle owner who gets into

         19  that car day in and day- out checks that system to

         20  make sure it is working, because it is there for

         21  their protection.

         22                 So I respectfully have to disagree

         23  with you on that. But we would be happy to share

         24  statistics with you, and talk to you about the

         25  legislation.  But I do think it is very, very
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          2  important, because you know the TLC sets these

          3  regulations, and ordinarily these are the types of

          4  laws that would most likely be governed by

          5  regulation.  Usually, when the Council in the past,

          6  historically, with the exception of the commuter van

          7  industry, has set forth very general standards to

          8  empower the Commission to have specific rules. So

          9  that every time that we need to change a rule, we do

         10  not have come back to the Council and bog the

         11  Council down with legislation. And this is a matter,

         12  which traditionally, has been handled via rule

         13  making, and we want to make sure that with point

         14  systems and everything, that there is consistency.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Commissioner,

         16  I am sorry.  I just wanted to  - -

         17                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Sure.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: - -  go back to

         19  your numbers.  You said in 2001, 282 summonses have

         20  been given out?

         21                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  No, 2,182.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Two thousand,

         23  one hundred and eighty- two, and 1,800 in 2002?

         24                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Eighteen hundred

         25  and three, yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  And as far as

          3  the summonses are concerned, do you have a not

          4  guilty and guilty box behind the summons?

          5                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Well that is

          6  something we discussed at the last meeting, that we

          7  are working on getting more set fine.  My

          8  understanding is that this is a set fine, and you

          9  cannot plead guilty by mail, correct?

         10                 MR. MAISER:  No.

         11                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  No?

         12                 MR. MAISER:  No, because of the

         13  suspension until compliance, there is still a

         14  compliance factor in the summons, which means at the

         15  time of the hearing, the respondent must show proof

         16  of compliance, otherwise the vehicle license goes on

         17  suspension.  So the respondent has to, in addition

         18  to paying the fine, if they want to plead guilty - -

         19    They do not have to come to the hearing, they can

         20  do it ahead of the hearing, but they also have to

         21  show proof that the correction has been made before

         22  the guilty plea is accepted.  If they want to have a

         23  hearing, plead not guilty and have a hearing that

         24  the system is working, before they can go forward to

         25  the hearing.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Now as far as

          3  the traffic, the trouble light.  When you ask a

          4  driver to place the trouble light, where is that

          5  trouble light supposed to be placed on the vehicle?

          6                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  There is one in

          7  the back and there is one in the front.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  And all you

          9  ask them is to place them, one in the back and one

         10  in the front, that is it, no specifications.

         11                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  There are

         12  specifications, and the cost of the trouble light

         13  with the wiring and the installation is $72.  So it

         14  is cheaper to install it and get it done, than it is

         15  to pay $100 summons.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  It is to my

         17  understanding that recently, a lot of drivers have

         18  been informing us, that now they are being fined for

         19  not having it at a specific location.  I believe,

         20  the back is supposed to the be the corner, right-

         21  hand side, instead of the center.

         22                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  It is supposed to

         23  be to the left of the license plate in the back.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Left.  And if

         25  they put them in the center - -
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  I have not heard

          3  of that.  I mean if you have constituents who have

          4  received summonses for that, I mean, we would be

          5  happy to look into that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  I want to just

          7  end my questions, so that everybody else gets an

          8  opportunity, but we are going to work on this.  I

          9  think we can respectfully come to an agreement where

         10  the drivers will be safe, you can get exactly what

         11  it is as far as compliance is concerned, ensuring

         12  safety.  But I still do firmly believe that we need

         13  to have a grace period of maybe, 48 hours, but

         14  something has to be there to ensure an incentive.

         15  Because the numbers are not decreasing in the livery

         16  side of this trouble light summonses.

         17                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Well, they have

         18  over the last fiscal year, which I think is a good

         19  sign, but still is overwhelming not complying

         20  compared to the yellow cab industry.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  We need to

         22  start improving those numbers, and I think we can

         23  find that improvement if we start working on this

         24  type of legislation.  It is something that I think

         25  we can explore an agreement on.  And I look forward
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          2  to further discussing that with you.

          3                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Yes, we would be

          4  happy to sit down and talk to you, further.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  We have

          7  been joined by Council Member Larry Seabrook, and

          8  also, Councilman Andrew Lanza.               We have

          9  questions from two more members of the Council for

         10  the Commissioner and his staff.  And let me just say

         11  that the first panel that will come up after the

         12  questions have been posed to the Commissioner, will

         13  be Mr. Fernando Mateo from the New York State

         14  Federation of Taxi Drivers, and Pedro Heredia from

         15  the New York City For- Hire Base Group.  And the

         16  second panel after that, just so you are ready, will

         17  be David Pollack from the Committee of Taxi Safety,

         18  and Eugene Pero and Joseph Scalice from the Livery

         19  Owner Coalition of New York.

         20                 Councilman Martinez.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Thank you,

         22  Mr. Chair. Thank you, Commissioner.  Commissioner, I

         23  appreciate the fact, and I want to address myself to

         24  the trouble lights and the Intro. Presented by Diana

         25  Reyna.  I appreciate the concern for safety of the
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          2  driver as foremost and the most important issue

          3  concerning this.  But as you mentioned in terms of

          4  the New York City Police Department also being

          5  concerned with this Intro., I want to ask you, what

          6  kind of coordination does the Taxi Limousine

          7  Commission has with the New York City Police

          8  Department?

          9                 Because I could tell you that I have

         10  seen and I have heard and we tested these trouble

         11  lights by turning them on, on certain cab drivers,

         12  livery cab drivers, and they go on for days. And not

         13  one single police officer stops them to see what is

         14  wrong. So that is my first question, what kind of

         15  coordination, or what kind of information does the

         16  NYPD, or is the NYPD, that you know of, or the

         17  agency know of, actually following the protocol?

         18                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  With all due

         19  respect, Council member, that is a question that I

         20  think the Police Department would have to answer.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  No, but my

         22  question is not in reference to, you know, holding

         23  you accountable to what they do. But in terms of, is

         24  there a formal communication between TLC in terms of

         25  making the NYPD aware that when they see these
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          2  lights they must, you know, pull over the driver and

          3  see if there is a safety issue?

          4                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Communication

          5  between our Enforcement Division and theirs?  Yes,

          6  there is communication at a coordination level.

          7  Their officers are responsible for enforcing, and we

          8  sometimes do join operations together.  But respect

          9  to this legislation, I would prefer to allow the

         10  Police Department to give their thoughts and

         11  opinions.  All I can tell you, just because of the

         12  short notice, that we had discussions with them and

         13  they oppose it for much of the same reasons that we

         14  do.  But their enforcement issues, I think, and the

         15  questions that you have, I think, would be more

         16  appropriately addressed to them, with all due

         17  respect.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  No, I want

         19  to bring that up, Mr. Chair, as an issue that maybe

         20  we may want to look at, the Committee and the issue

         21  of the trouble light.  Because, again, I could

         22  appreciate the importance of the assurance of

         23  drivers' safety.

         24                 But then on the other issue of the

         25  economics, you know, $100 is hard to make driving a
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          2  cab.  And for example, using the NYPD as an example,

          3  Commissioner, when I get a summons for trouble brake

          4  lights, which are also as important, and is also a

          5  safety issue in the City of New York.  When I get a

          6  summons for a defected brake light, I have the

          7  opportunity to go back, repair it, go to the

          8  precinct, get a receipt, a letter from the NYPD, and

          9  I could avoid the summons and I could also avoid the

         10  suspension of my license.  So I do not think it is a

         11  just system that one does not have an opportunity to

         12  correct the problem, and one is just found guilty

         13  automatically without given an opportunity to

         14  correct the problem.

         15                 So what you have here is double

         16  jeopardy in terms you are found guilty and you also

         17  pay the summons and you also correct the problem.

         18  And there is no opportunity there, and I do not

         19  think that is the spirit of the judicial system, or

         20  the spirit that the agency should have in terms of

         21  you are guilty regardless of whether you correct the

         22  problem.

         23                 I think that rather than passing on

         24  the buck to the base owners and now making the base

         25  owners responsible for the light, I think that you
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          2  should consider, Commissioner, a system in which the

          3  driver will have a mechanism to correct the problem

          4  and notify you before 48 hours with the proof of the

          5  correction, that the trouble light was fixed, rather

          6  than just having them pay the fine automatically.

          7  And if they do not correct the problem, then their

          8  license should be suspended.  But they should have

          9  the opportunity to correct the problem, if they do

         10  not correct the problem, then we should go into, you

         11  know, whatever penalty the law calls for.

         12                 It is just, you know, an issue of

         13  economic, and I would urge you to really consider

         14  that, especially now when we are facing these harsh

         15  economic times, as you know.  And if people, right

         16  now, are not using the service, and drivers are not

         17  making what they used to make before, and making

         18  $100, we are talking about hours and hours driving

         19  around the City to make that kind of dollars.  And

         20  economic is the main factor.

         21                 I appreciate safety as the main

         22  concern, but we also have to just and fair.

         23                 Now I want to address another

         24  question, Commissioner, and that is the Advisory

         25  Board.  When you spoke of the Advisory Board - -
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Right.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  I want to

          4  take you back, when you spoke about the

          5  recommendation that you give the Council in terms of

          6  the appointments to the Board.  What do you think

          7  that it would also, should not it be the same way as

          8  the appointments that are made now to the different

          9  advisory boards that the Taxi Limousine Commission

         10  has currently?  Or what is the difference, or why

         11  should it be done differently?

         12                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  I think we have

         13  to re- look at them.  I think a lot of the advisory

         14  boards were put in place over different periods of

         15  time, and it is really a hodge- podge of different

         16  appointments for different boards, different powers,

         17  different numbers.

         18                 I would recommend taking a fresh look

         19  at all of them and how they operate.  I mean, some

         20  the Chair appoints, some are not even authorized in

         21  law, and others have, there is just no, there does

         22  not seem to be much uniformity in that regard,

         23  because I did look at that recently.  So, we would

         24  be open to any ideas that you have on that.

         25                 I just think from a practical
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          2  standpoint, that when it comes to drivers, drivers

          3  come in and out of the industry.  You know trade

          4  organizations usually, you know, stay around longer,

          5  and many of the trade organizations are on our

          6  subject matter boards, and they represent a large

          7  amount of people.  But drivers sometimes come and

          8  go, and I just suggest it as a possibly unwieldy

          9  process to have constantly your appointments

         10  committee and the Mayor's appointments committee

         11  meeting to fill these vacancies.  I mean, I would

         12  much prefer a situation where if you know drivers or

         13  have constituents who are drivers that you respect

         14  and think are great, that you send them over to us,

         15  and we would conduct the check of their record, we

         16  would interview them, and if we felt that it was a

         17  right fit in terms of the criteria, that we would

         18  put them on the board.  And I think it might work

         19  better if you had an unlimited ability to make those

         20  recommendations.

         21                 Because, you know, the concern is

         22  that we have a full board, and two, three or five

         23  people leave the industry, then if it is not the

         24  right time and the Council and the Mayor's Office is

         25  busy with other stuff, that we have vacancies on the
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          2  board and we cannot get work done.

          3                 So I just offer it as in terms of my

          4  opinion, that is what I think we should do.  I would

          5  be happy to work with you on it, I think it is a

          6  great idea, overall, having a board.  I think

          7  something I strongly agree with philosophically, and

          8  I know you do. And I would be happy to sit down and

          9  work out language, if you are interested.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Finally,

         11  Commissioner, I just want to, and I know you are

         12  aware of it, the fact that, you know, as I look

         13  through the City Charter in looking for definition

         14  for- hire industry as opposed to the yellow cab

         15  industry, you will find that in the City Charter

         16  there are more precise and clear definitions as to

         17  one industry as opposed to the other.

         18                 In this case, when we looked at the

         19  for- hire, it is very limited and that is due

         20  because it is a new industry, a fairly new industry

         21  as opposed to the yellow cab industry.  So one of

         22  the reasons, and I am just addressing this to a

         23  comment you made in terms of allowing the TLC

         24  Commission to have more of the authority or the

         25  regulatory powers rather than becoming a City
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          2  Council issue or hearing.  And I strongly believe

          3  that one of the main issues, or one of the goals of

          4  the Committee, the Transportation Committee, with

          5  all due respect to our Chair, Chairman Liu and all

          6  of our members, to look at that and try to have

          7  clear definition as to this industry and the issues

          8  concerning this industry.

          9                 And I think the issue, and you bring

         10  light to it, of the trouble light, is just one of

         11  the sample of why we need to have clarity and

         12  definition of this industry, from issue of this

         13  particular light.

         14                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Right.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Because

         16  there are a lot of confusions.

         17                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  There is

         18  certainly a disparity as you mentioned.  I mean, you

         19  know, you talk about young industries, the commuter

         20  van is a young one, and it seems as if the

         21  Commission does not have any power whatsoever to

         22  change those rules because they are so detailed.

         23                 I just want to, in draftmanship and

         24  power, I truly believe, with all due respect to the

         25  Council, that when there is a situation where you
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          2  feel that you are disagreeing and you have to

          3  override a regulatory body, then that is what you

          4  have got to do. But if you had a perfect world where

          5  you have a regulatory agency that is expert, my

          6  overall generic advise would be to have general

          7  powers given to the Commission to have specific

          8  rules.  Because you do retain your oversight

          9  authority to question what we are doing, and you

         10  could always pass the legislation, if you need to.

         11  But this is the type - -  You know what my concern

         12  is?  You know our point system is what it is, we

         13  may, you know, decide if you change one point on one

         14  thing it affects the whole, you know, if you put

         15  more points on one violation as opposed to another.

         16  That is why it is important that the Council and the

         17  TLC have a close working relationship on these

         18  issues.

         19                 What I am concerned about is that, if

         20  there would come a point in the future where the

         21  Council and the TLC do not communicate as well as we

         22  do, then you will have a situation where, you know,

         23  that leads to the laws not being properly drafted

         24  and worded, and that has happened in the past, where

         25  you know sometimes the Council on a very specific
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          2  matter would override what the TLC did.  I just

          3  think it is better to, wherever you can, a very

          4  specific rule should be passed by the Commission as

          5  opposed to the Council, but that, you know, you have

          6  the absolute authority to do it and I respect it.

          7  And you know whatever you decide to do, we will

          8  abide by.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  No, thank

         10  you, Commissioner, I appreciate that.  But I think

         11  that in the spirit of collaboration and in the

         12  spirit of ensuring that, you know, we protect the

         13  rights of thousands of families, I think that the

         14  best way to go is do it in collaboration.  And I

         15  think we are going to ahead a long way in terms of

         16  bringing some changes.  And I think the only way to

         17  do it is in collaboration.

         18                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Absolutely.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  And I am

         20  strongly in support of that.

         21                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.

         23  Councilman Diaz.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  Thank you, Mr.

         25  Chairman. Commissioner Daus?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  How are you

          4  doing, Commissioner?

          5                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Good, how are

          6  you, Council member?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  Let me see if I

          8  can understand the whole situation here.  Regarding

          9  the trouble lights, what is the purpose of giving a

         10  summons?

         11                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  The purpose of

         12  giving a summons for a trouble light?  To make sure

         13  that the vehicle owner has that light working at all

         14  times.  So if there is a situation where that driver

         15  needs help that they can put the light on, and that

         16  would, hopefully, save their life, or otherwise make

         17  them get out of a situation where they might be

         18  getting robbed.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  When they put

         20  the lights on, the police will respond, and their

         21  life will be saved.

         22                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  That is the

         23  theory.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  That is the way

         25  for it to work.  So why do you hear, I do not know
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          2  if I misunderstood, but someone said that the police

          3  do not respond.

          4                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  I believe,

          5  Council Member Martinez had mentioned that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  The police do

          7  not respond.

          8                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  That is what he

          9  said.  That was the first I was hearing of it.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  You do not

         11  know?

         12                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  I do not know

         13  what?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  That police do

         15  respond, or that they do not?

         16                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Well, they have

         17  in the past, there is no question, they have in the

         18  past.  That is what we were told.  And again, it is

         19  something for the Police Department to answer.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  But your job is

         21  to protect their life.

         22                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  That is all of

         23  our job.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  By issuing the

         25  summonses, you are trying to protect their life?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  The police do

          4  not respond, what are we doing?

          5                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  My understanding,

          6  I have no reason to believe that the police are not

          7  responding.  We are issuing summonses, and

          8  obviously, law enforcement is looking at it, so they

          9  must be looking at the lights.  But again, with all

         10  due respect, Council member, it is an issue for the

         11  Police Department to respond to.  If there is an

         12  allegation that that is not happening, that is

         13  something for them to respond to.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  No, no, no,

         15  with all due respect, Commissioner, this is not an

         16  issue of the Police Department not to respond, it is

         17  an issue that if something is not working, why keep

         18  harassing the drivers?

         19                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  No, I think it is

         20  working, actually.  I think it is working better

         21  than in the prior fiscal year because the number of

         22  summons that were issued went down, I think that is

         23  a good sign.  And again, it is working on the

         24  medallion side, and this may have something to do,

         25  like I said with the inspection system.
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          2                 Right now, the for- hire vehicles and

          3  liveries get inspected three times a year at

          4  inspection facilities outside the TLC.  We have a

          5  centralized inspection facility for yellow cabs. I

          6  believe that is a factor for why we only have 20

          7  summonses in 2001, 23 in 2002 as compared to

          8  thousands in the livery industry. It is not, if you

          9  do the math and you just compare the number of

         10  yellow cab drivers to the number of livery vehicles,

         11  it does not necessarily follow from that math.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  If we could

         13  produce an educated study that the police do not

         14  respond, will you stop harassing with the summonses?

         15                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  I am unaware of

         16  any allegations. I mean, of course, the Police

         17  Department - -

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  Listen to my

         19  question, if we do prove, or conduct study, a very

         20  professional responsible study that the police do

         21  not respond when you put the lights, would you stop

         22  the summonses?

         23                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Well, I am sure

         24  if you presented such a study to the Police

         25  Department and to the TLC, we would take it very
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          2  seriously and look at it, absolutely.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  Because I do

          4  not see any reason why give summons to something,

          5  for what?  I mean, the summons should be given to

          6  the Police Department, they are the one not

          7  responding.  Thank you.

          8                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Okay.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:    Okay, we have one

         10  last question from Councilman Felder.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  The Reverend

         12  really stole my thunder.  I do not want to repeat

         13  what he said.  I do not know if I agree with the

         14  last thing about giving the police the summonses.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  Let me - -

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  We will talk

         17  about it later.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  If someone is

         19  violating the law, if someone is violating the law,

         20  summonses should be issued. Now the question is

         21  here, the Police Dependent is supposed to enforce

         22  the law when the lights go on.  Now they have,

         23  police officer going after taxi drivers because the

         24  light does not work. What they should get, the law

         25  enforcement going after the police, put the light
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          2  on, if the police does not respond, issue summons to

          3  the police.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Yes, I heard

          5  you the first time.  But I agree with you about

          6  everything you said, up to that point.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  I know.  You

          8  and me have to get together to do you know what.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  The issue,

         10  the really issue is that it is unconscionable.  I

         11  think that everybody here understands the importance

         12  of the safety.  But I do not want to repeat what he

         13  said, I think that the Reverend and everyone else is

         14  right on target.  If it is clear that the police are

         15  not responding to the lights, so then it is clear

         16  that there is no safety really being ensured for

         17  these drivers.  And until that can be ascertained,

         18  they should not be fined.  If it is clear that this

         19  is what is going on, then the question is whether

         20  the purpose is safety or revenue producing.  And I

         21  do not think you are going to say, and you do not

         22  have to answer this, that it is revenue producing.

         23  No one will want to say that.

         24                 And if it is supposed to be safety,

         25  and it is clearly not, not that way, because some of
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          2  the members are saying that somebody is driving

          3  around for days and no one does anything, then for

          4  you, with all due respect, to say that it is

          5  something that should posed to the Police

          6  Department, that is not fair, and I do not think

          7  that is correct, because you are the one that is

          8  doing the enforcing.  And if the enforcing is

          9  supposed to promote safety and it is not promoting

         10  the safety, then I think that it should be stopped

         11  until we can ensure that that is what it is doing.

         12                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  I have to say I

         13  respectfully disagree with everything that was said,

         14  and reasonable minds could differ.  But, and I am

         15  not passing the buck, this is an issue that you are

         16  raising that does not concern the enforcement, we

         17  have our own enforcement at our agency.  And our

         18  enforcement officers are out there checking for it,

         19  and the summonses show that.

         20                 But I respectfully disagree, I mean,

         21  that is just how I feel about it.  I would rather

         22  take the risk that we do not spare one life, one

         23  situation, there are other defects that we can look

         24  at, and I have committed to that, and our Advisory

         25  Board is looking into that right now.  There are

                                                            60

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  other rules that, we are doing a comprehensive

          3  review of our rules on our Livery Advisory Board to

          4  see what other types of minor violations might be

          5  subject to a "Notice to Correct" situation.  But

          6  when it comes to safety, I just have to respectfully

          7  disagree.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  I am

          9  convinced that you have the safety of the drivers as

         10  your priority.  I think none of my colleagues

         11  disagree.  The question is whether that in fact is

         12  taking place.  Some of the comments that were made,

         13  it is clear that it is not working.  And if it is

         14  not working, I think that the concentration should

         15  be made on making it work, that is all.

         16                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Okay.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Mr. Chair,

         18  may I just ask one more?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Yes, one more quick

         20  follow- up question by Council Member Martinez.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:

         22  Commissioner, would you be open to maybe other

         23  explore other possibility of addressing this issue?

         24  Because, again, no one here wants to - -  You said

         25  yes already to that?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  I am sorry, to

          3  what?  You are answering for me?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  I was going

          5  to ask - -

          6                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Which issue is

          7  that?

          8                 MR. MAISER:  Let's hear the question.

          9                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Could we rephrase

         10  the question, or repeat it?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  You know, I

         12  think that the consensus is that we all agree that

         13  no one here wants to compromise the safety of the

         14  drivers.  My question was, or my proposal was, would

         15  you be open to exploring and looking at this issue

         16  further in terms of both compliance, safety and the

         17  economics in terms of fixing the problem, getting

         18  the light to work, with the issue of the drivers

         19  giving this 24, let's say 10 hours, whatever it is,

         20  a space to do the corrections?

         21                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  On this

         22  particular bill?  No. Am I open to, in general,

         23  talking about other minor defects that we could have

         24   "Notice to Correct," yes.  What I offered to

         25  Council Member Reyna - -
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  On the

          3  trouble lights.

          4                 COMMISSIONER DAUS: - -  and to you,

          5  is to talk, if you would like to have a staff

          6  meeting with us and the Legislative Affairs Office

          7  to talk about this particular bill, because I

          8  understand that you were just raising a point

          9  earlier about a 24 or 48- hour period.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Yes.

         11                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  You know my

         12  concern is any type of period, whether it is an

         13  hour, or five hours, or ten hours, if that driver

         14  stays on the road and is picking up passengers for

         15  hire, one hour is too much.  That is just my

         16  philosophy.

         17                 You know, I do not know what the

         18  counter proposal would be that you, but it is

         19  something that we would be open to discussing it.

         20  But this bill, as it stands, I am opposed to it.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  But it is

         22  open to discussion in terms - -

         23                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Well, sure, we

         24  can discuss things, yes.  I can discuss this issue

         25  further with you, absolutely.
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          2                 But as this bill as it currently

          3  stands, I am opposed to it, I do not want to take

          4  the chance.  That is just my opinion.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Commissioner.

          6  I am sorry, Mr. Chair.  Commissioner, we will put

          7  this bill, laid it aside, but work on it together so

          8  that we can ensure the safety of the driver, as well

          9  as having practical measures that will be just to

         10  both the driver as well as the bases, as well as the

         11  City Council members working with TLC.  We are not

         12  just referring to this particular bill, we are

         13  talking about further discussion as to how we can

         14  amend this so that we take into consideration A, B,

         15  and C factors, Council Member Martinez has just

         16  mentioned.

         17                 In addition to that, to continue

         18  further discussions with the NYPD to ensure that the

         19  safety measures we are trying to implement are

         20  really being responded to.  Because who is watching

         21  the NYPD?  If they are supposed to be responding to

         22  these trouble lights, when in fact, as Council

         23  Member Martinez has mentioned, we have tested them

         24  to the point where one driver will go around for

         25  days with it on, no one ever realizes that this
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          2  particular driver may be in trouble, held hostage or

          3  whatever that may be.

          4                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Okay, do you want

          5  me to answer?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  So to

          7  conclude, no, I just want your commitment.

          8                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  That we will

          9  table the bill and we will discuss it?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Yes.

         11                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Okay, the answer

         12  is yes, you have an agreement.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you,

         14  Commissioner, and thank you everyone for coming down

         15  this afternoon.

         16                 COMMISSIONER DAUS:  Thank you, it is

         17  my pleasure.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Let me call up the

         19  next panel, which will be Fernando Mateo and Pedro

         20  Heredia.  And following that panel, we will here

         21  from David Pollack and Eugene Pero with Joseph

         22  Scalice.

         23                 All right, I would like to hear the

         24  next panel now. But before we begin the next panel,

         25  I would like to ask, we do have a number of people
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          2  providing testimony this afternoon, so I would like

          3  to ask you to keep your introductory remarks to no

          4  more than four minutes.  When you have half a minute

          5  left, I will let you know that it is time to wrap

          6  up.  Thanks for indulging me in this.

          7                 And again, I will also remind

          8  everyone that we are on call to have go back into

          9  session in the City Council.  So if that happens,

         10  forgive us.

         11                 Mr. Mateo.

         12                 MR. MATEO:  Good afternoon, Chairman

         13  Liu.  Thank you, Council member, we really are very

         14  grateful that you are holding these hearings, and

         15  most importantly, it is a breath of fresh air, you

         16  know, to see new Council people up there, people

         17  that I believe are willing to hear and understand

         18  what has been going on for many years.

         19                 I believe that hearing the

         20  Commissioner speaking about the many issues that you

         21  all brought up, goes to show you that the

         22  Commissioner will be very persuasive.  He will try

         23  in every which way he can to tell you that he is

         24  sincere and that he really feels for this industry,

         25  when in reality we believe the contrary.

                                                            66

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 I have a bunch of different issues

          3  that I would just like to present.  I overheard that

          4  there should be a Committee of Drivers as an

          5  Advisory Committee to the TLC.  We believe, at the

          6  New York State Federation, which represents well

          7  over 20,000 livery cab drivers, that that definitely

          8  should happen.  But what you must not allow is for

          9  the Taxi and Limousine Commission to select those

         10  drivers.  It is a conflict of interest.

         11                 Most of the Advisory Boards that they

         12  have, they select, therefore, they do what they

         13  want, whenever they want.  So definitely a

         14  Committee, and Advisory Committee, but definitely,

         15  certainly not selected by Taxi and Limousine

         16  Commission, and nevertheless, by the Commissioner of

         17  Taxi and Limousine Commission, that is a very

         18  important issue.  It is a conflict of interest.

         19                 Whenever anyone does not agree with

         20  the Taxi and Limousine Commission, with this huge

         21  monopoly, because as time goes by and you start

         22  hearing and learning more about this monopoly, you

         23  will understand that many other hearings are going

         24  to start taking place, and you are going to be aware

         25  of a lot of the things that they do.
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          2                 First of all, they have a book of

          3  rules and regulations, they do not distribute this

          4  book of rules and regulations to anybody.

          5  Therefore, the drivers do not know what is right and

          6  what is wrong in most cases.  For example, the

          7  trouble lights, those trouble lights, in the book it

          8  indicates what type of trouble light you should

          9  have.  But they do not know, they go to a shop and

         10  the shop shows them five different types of trouble

         11  lights.  If they select, if the driver selects a

         12  trouble light that is not approved by Taxi and

         13  Limousine Commission, they get a fine for the type

         14  of trouble light that they have.  That is an issue

         15  that was not brought up here, but that is a very

         16  serious issue. Why?  Because after a drive goes out,

         17  puts on his trouble light, he gets stopped and gets

         18  a summonses, because he installed the wrong one, the

         19  wrong size.  So why is it that they do not

         20  distribute these rules and regulations book to the

         21  drivers so that they understand when and why they

         22  get a fine?

         23                 Also, the Commissioner knows and

         24  understands that more than half of this industry is

         25  Spanish, of Hispanic descent, they do not read or
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          2  write English, they read and write Spanish.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Mr. Mateo, thank

          4  you very much, and you know you can continue.  But

          5  it would be helpful to me, personally, if I could

          6  hear whether you are in favor or opposed either or

          7  both of these bills?

          8                 MR. MATEO:  No, I am in favor of

          9  them.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, great.

         11                 MR. MATEO:  But with certain

         12  conditions.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, but I do need

         14  to ask you to wrap up your comments.  I would be

         15  very happy to stay afterwards to hear more.

         16                 MR. MATEO:  Okay.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Or my fellow

         18  Committee members have questions, they will pose

         19  them to you.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  Mr. Chairman,

         21  with all due respect to you as the Chair, Mr. Mateo

         22  is one of the most distinguished leaders of our

         23  community, and of this industry.  I think he has

         24  very interesting and very valid points, and very

         25  serious things we should hear.  And I think that we
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          2  should bring and offer him the courtesy and all the

          3  time he needs to express what he has to say in

          4  defending the taxi in our community.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Council member, I

          6  appreciate your sentiments here.  The business in

          7  front of this Committee, at hand, are two very

          8  specific bills, that I personally think have a great

          9  deal of merit and need to be discussed.  I have a

         10  great deal of respect for Mr. Mateo, as well as

         11  every other person who comes in front of this

         12  Committee to provide testimony.

         13                 Because we do have a number of people

         14  who wish to provide testimony, I would think that,

         15  and given our time constraints and the possibility

         16  of being called back into session, I would ask

         17  everybody to be concise and clear in their

         18  testimony, and to give everybody else a chance too.

         19                 After the end of the last person who

         20  will present testimony, I am very happy, to once

         21  again, call upon Mr. Mateo to provide us with his

         22  insight and to hear more from you, Council member,

         23  about your comments.

         24                 Mr. Mateo, I think you have half a

         25  minute to wrap up, please.
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          2                 MR. MATEO:  I have wrapped up.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.

          4                 MR. MATEO:  You have said it all.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Are there any

          6  questions from the Committee members.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Council Member

          9  Martinez.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Thank you,

         11  Fernando, Mr. Mateo for being here, on behalf of the

         12  Federation.

         13                 That is an important point, the one

         14  you make in terms of the appointment to the Advisory

         15  Committee.  Now what we are suggesting is that every

         16  member of the industry, yellow, black car, van

         17  drivers, and limousine drivers be included in the

         18  Advisory Committee.

         19                 Now the question that I will have to

         20  you, the Commissioner mentioned that it should be up

         21  to the Commission to look at the background check.

         22  Would the Federation have an issue with the

         23  Commission, not appointing, but doing the background

         24  check in terms of the drivers' record, in terms of

         25  character, and so forth, or what other mechanism
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          2  would you recommend for the creation of this Board?

          3                 MR. MATEO:  I believe that Taxi and

          4  Limousine certainly should do a background check.  I

          5  believe they have more information than we will ever

          6  have.  But I also believe they have made a lot of

          7  mistakes in issuing licenses or not issuing licenses

          8  to drivers, so you have to question their ability of

          9  judgement.  So I would recommend that, together with

         10  TLC reviewing the background checks of the drivers

         11  that someone else should also be involved, someone

         12  that the Council would select.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  And also

         14  with the trouble lights, is it the Federation's

         15  experience also that a driver will drive around all

         16  day with the trouble lights on and not be stopped by

         17  a member of the NYPD, or do you know, or have you

         18  heard of any coordination between TLC and the Police

         19  Department in reference to the trouble lights?

         20                 MR. MATEO:  Very rarely will you find

         21  that NYPD and TLC understand their rules and

         22  regulations.  They are often, not only do they not

         23  stop a cab when they see a trouble light, but they

         24  stop cabbies and issue them summonses for stuff that

         25  TLC is not even enforcing or is not in the rules and
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          2  regulations book.

          3                 So I go further, and suggest to the

          4  Council, to try to see if someone could be appointed

          5  to make sure that TLC and NYPD know and understand

          6  what is really going on, because half of the time

          7  they do not.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Thank you,

          9  Mr. Mateo.

         10                 MR. MATEO:  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  A

         12  question from Council Member Reyna.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Thank you, Mr.

         14  Chair.  Thank you for testifying, Mr. Mateo.  I just

         15  wanted to ask a question, Mr. Mateo, concerning your

         16  Federation.  As far as having conducted or ever

         17  considered conducting such a study where, in fact,

         18  Council Member Martinez has referred to, a drive

         19  with his trouble light, his or her trouble light on

         20  for days and NYPD not stopping to figure out if

         21  something, in fact, is wrong?

         22                 MR. MATEO:  I think that you conduct

         23  studies, Councilwoman Reyna, when something is

         24  unclear.  But I think we all understand that it is,

         25  I would say, 85 percent of the time police officers
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          2  disregard whether or not a driver has his trouble

          3  light on.  And during the day, the trouble light,

          4  you cannot see with the sunlight, with the daylight.

          5    So really it would only serve a purpose at night,

          6  not during the day.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Even more so

          8  why I ask so that documentation that is not

          9  accessible to us as Council members to have this

         10  type of information valid as testimony.  Such a

         11  study, as Council Member Diaz has just mentioned, is

         12  necessary.

         13                 MR. MATEO:  Okay.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Because we are

         15  able to understand the different dynamics, and

         16  perhaps if it does not work during the day and only

         17  works at night, then why do we have the trouble

         18  lights to begin with?

         19                 MR. MATEO:  That is correct.  I will

         20  tell you that whatever the City Council or the

         21  Transportation Committee needs of the Federation, we

         22  are willing, wanting, and able to help.  We probably

         23  have more information, or close, a lot of

         24  information that could be useful.  But I would

         25  certainly say that the trouble light is useless
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          2  during the day, and at night, most police officers

          3  not knowingly, they do not do it on purpose, not

          4  knowingly will drive by.  And proof is that 25

          5  drivers were being murdered every year for 10 years,

          6  during the last 10 years.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  During day

          8  hours or during night hours?

          9                 MR. MATEO:  During night hours.  And

         10  a lot of those vehicles had their blinking lights on

         11  when the driver was found slumped over the steering

         12  wheel.  So I believe that something can and should

         13  be done, and we will, I will instruct my Board of

         14  Directors to, you know, put together a study that

         15  will give you more information.  And as I said, use

         16  us as a resource too, because we have a lot of

         17  information for you.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  That is

         19  exactly my intention. And I would humbly request

         20  that particular study to be conducted, because it is

         21  only to the drivers' safety that this will ensure

         22  exactly what the City is trying to do for them.  And

         23  that type of information is lacking right now, we

         24  have no study comprised of such information.  So we

         25  would really appreciate you, if your Federation can
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          2  compile such a study, to forward that to us.

          3                 MR. MATEO:  We will work on it.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Thank you.

          5                 MR. MATEO:  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.

          7  Councilwoman Sears.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you, Mr.

          9  Chair.  I have listened and with respect to studies

         10  and this proposed legislation, it seems that if the

         11  police officers are not responding, I do not think

         12  that is an issue for a study, that is an issue of

         13  educating the Police Departments throughout the

         14  City, and it is an issue of enforcing through the

         15  Police Department and having the Taxi and Limousine

         16  Commission enforced this.  It means that the Police

         17  Department and the TLC have to come together, and

         18  perhaps, this Council, this Committee can be

         19  responsible for doing that.

         20                 Because what we are talking about is

         21  really not obeying a law.  We are talking about the

         22  Police Department, and not intentionally, but not

         23  doing this and not responding the these lights.

         24  That is one of education and it is one of

         25  enforcement. And it seems there is a big gap between
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          2  the TLC and the Police Department.

          3                 And I would suggest, Mr. Chair, that

          4  somehow in working with this proposed bill that that

          5  is an issue that needs to be dealt with.  And that

          6  is something, that is an issue that has to be dealt

          7  with in a timely fashion, not for the length of time

          8  for a study, not for the length of time that we

          9  review a bill and have to get it through the

         10  Council.  We are talking about an issue that can be

         11  dealt with immediately, and we are talking about the

         12  Police Commissioner and getting this through, across

         13  to the police precincts and the TLC.   And I would

         14  really suggest that we do that, because that is an

         15  issue that can be addressed immediately.

         16                 Other things that we are talking

         17  about is a process. And that process is time

         18  consuming and will not address the urgency and the

         19  immediacy of what is happening right now.

         20                 MR. MATEO:  I agree with you, and I

         21  will tell you the following, the only time TLC finds

         22  out that a trouble light is not working is when they

         23  pull the driver over for other reasons. Why?

         24  Because how else would they know whether the trouble

         25  light is working or not?  What TLC see does most of
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          2  the time, is when they pull a driver over they hold

          3  them there for an hour, hour and a half, they

          4  inspect the car, being that they do not physically

          5  inspect the livery industry.  They inspect the

          6  yellow cab industry, and they hold the driver there,

          7  and they tell him, turn on this light, turn on that

          8  light, they inspect the care.  And that is how they

          9  find out whether or not the trouble light is working

         10  or not.

         11                 And the fact that 30 percent of their

         12  summonses are issued for trouble lights, just goes

         13  to show that they are there for other reasons

         14  stopping these drivers and not for a trouble light.

         15  So there is a lot of harassment involved in this

         16  whole trouble light issue.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  All right, and

         18  I will agree. And those are two separate issues,

         19  they really are.  And they are two separate issues

         20  that require and can be dealt with in a very timely

         21  basis.  One, is the Taxi and Limousine Commission,

         22  absolutely, because these cars come in for

         23  inspection.  According to them and to the

         24  Commissioner, they are inspected.  And they are not

         25  back on the street unless they do that.  Now if
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          2  there is a problem with that, and I see somebody

          3  shaking a head, then obviously there is a

          4  discrepancy on what the agency is saying and exactly

          5  what is happening, and that is up to this Committee

          6  to deal with that.

          7                 But for immediate enforcement for the

          8  lights that are working and they are not responded

          9  to, which is an issue that I believe you raised in

         10  your testimony, that is a whole separate issue.  And

         11  that is one that can be dealt with on a timely

         12  basis, that is what I am getting at.  In terms of

         13  the lights not working and the harassment from the

         14  agency, that is another issue, and that needs to be

         15  dealt with, with a different process.

         16                 But certainly a process of not

         17  obeying what the police have to do and not

         18  responding to that, it behooves us to see that that

         19  is something that is corrected immediately.

         20                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         21                 MR. MATEO:  In all fairness, I have

         22  got to tell you that once, during the Giuliani

         23  Administration, once the murders hit the papers and

         24  everyone became aware of what was going on in this

         25  industry, NYPD, the Federation got together, we put
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          2  together a video tape and it was sent to every

          3  precinct.  And every police officer was re- educated

          4  on the aspect of looking for the trouble light.  And

          5  we have seen a major difference.  But the truth of

          6  the matter is that we have seen a difference because

          7  a lot of components have come in place.  Cameras

          8  were never around, partitions were never there or

          9  enforced.  Okay, all those components have saved

         10  lives.

         11                 The trouble light, I think, is the

         12  last thing that can save someone's life.  I mean we

         13  are looking at tracking devices, which we got

         14  funding from the State to install about 1,300 cars

         15  with tracking devices, will allow a driver to send a

         16  signal and within minutes the cops will know where

         17  he is at, and you know, hopefully, will save his

         18  life.

         19                 But in a dark alley, one- way street,

         20  burned down neighborhood, your trouble light is not

         21  going to do much.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  It is not

         23  going to work.

         24                 MR. MATEO:  No, it is not.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  It absolutely
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          2  will not work.

          3                 MR. MATEO:  But the fines work,

          4  because the fines generate a ton of revenues.  And

          5  when the City Council asked the Commissioner whether

          6  he was willing to give the drivers an opportunity to

          7  fix them within 24 hours or 48 hours, he said, no.

          8  Why did he say, no?  Because it generates tremendous

          9  revenues.

         10                 But, furthermore, he says, okay, if

         11  we take the responsibility away from the drivers,

         12  let the base pay for it.  You know, so...

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Okay, but that

         14  is something that this proposed bill can deal with.

         15  Because what can be placed in there, if it is not

         16  already, in the review of this, is to respond to the

         17  correction of that problem within a certain time

         18  period to do that.  And that is certainly something

         19  that could be done through the legislative process.

         20                 MR. MATEO:  I commend you,

         21  Councilwoman, because you hit the nail on the head.

         22  We need more coordination between NYPD and TLC and

         23  the enforcement of these trouble lights.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  And that is

         25  exactly what this Committee can do.
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          2                 MR. MATEO:  Thank you.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  Council

          5  Member Reverend Diaz.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  Thank you, Mr.

          7  Chairman.  Mr. Mateo, I would like to congratulate

          8  you, to tell you that I really admire you for your

          9  work, for your dedication, for the support that you

         10  are giving to this industry, and for what you have

         11  done for this industry.  And just to say that, it is

         12  a shame, that it is always Black and Hispanic who

         13  pays and to be discriminated.  And this fine, this

         14  fine imposed to drivers, because of a trouble light

         15  during the day time, when trouble light does not

         16  work, and when police officer do not even respond,

         17  is burden to the discrimination.  I am not saying it

         18  is racism, but I am almost there, and I will offer

         19  my support to you and to your group to whatever has

         20  to done too.

         21                 It has been an honor to working with

         22  for many years, and I will continue working with

         23  you.

         24                 MR. MATEO:  Thank you.  I would like

         25  to just say, Council Member Ruben Diaz, that I have
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          2  witnessed sometimes when a TLC officer stops a

          3  driver, during the day, and he has to do to check

          4  and see whether the trouble light is working or not,

          5  is put a funnel over the light to stop the sun from

          6  hitting so that he can see through a little hole,

          7  whether or not the light is blinking or not.  So how

          8  can you expect police officers to really know or

          9  understand whether or not that light is working.

         10                 But I believe and I commend Chairman

         11  Liu, Councilman Martinez, Council Member Diana

         12  Reyna, all of the Council members here, for taking

         13  the time.  I do not believe hearings like this have

         14  ever taken place where you are able to bring out

         15  issues.

         16                 And one last thing, that I want to

         17  say, Council Member Diaz, is up until a month and a

         18  half ago, until we did a protest, two protests, to

         19  protest the triple fining for these trouble lights

         20  and for other things, did the Commission, did the

         21  Taxi and Limousine Commission continue to issue

         22  triple and double fining.  It was after they got

         23  pressure from the media that they said, we are going

         24  to stop issuing these summonses.  But in the

         25  meantime, - -
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Did you say

          3  it was triple fining?

          4                 MR. MATEO:  Triple, one to the

          5  driver, one to the owner of the car, and one to the

          6  base, for the same offense for a blinking light.

          7  But let's go back two years, two years ago, a police

          8  officer that had nothing to do with TLC, would pull

          9  a driver over, issue him a fine for trouble light,

         10  that fine would then go to TLC, and TLC would issue

         11  three summonses on that, additional summons that the

         12  Police Department issued.  And in a meeting that I

         13  had with the former Chairperson, we almost had it

         14  out, but I told her what you are doing is wrong, it

         15  is unconstitutional, and you have got to stop.  They

         16  stopped issuing the summonses from the Police

         17  Department to TLC, but they continued issuing double

         18  and triple fines for this and other offenses.  And

         19  this is the kind of stuff that I am sure that this

         20  Council does not know.  Maybe Councilman Reyna knows

         21  because her father is a livery cab, and maybe

         22  Councilman Martinez is aware, but I am sure that the

         23  rest of you are not.  So there are a lot of things

         24  that need to be corrected.

         25                 And, once again, I am very grateful.
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          2  I hope to continue working with you.  And if there

          3  are no other questions --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  And that is

          5  exactly why I wanted you to talk, because I know you

          6  know exactly the kind of discrimination that our

          7  people are subject to.

          8                 Thank you very much.

          9                 MR. MATEO:  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  There is one last

         11  question from Council Member Reyna.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  It is more

         13  like a clarification.  I respectfully ask for a

         14  study, for this very reason, this is information

         15  that needs to be compiled in a specific way where it

         16  can be issued to us and referred to.  And this is

         17  not to hinder any process referring to this

         18  particular bill.  This bill will continue to be

         19  worked on, and it will continue to further be

         20  supported by the Mayor's Administration.  I am very

         21  positive and I will continue to work with the

         22  Administration to make sure that we see the end of

         23  this, and together we will celebrate it.

         24                 But in the meantime, in order to

         25  continue facing these issues and promote some type
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          2  of collaboration, we need to these findings in front

          3  of us so that we can continue to have oversight over

          4  the TLC and how they are conducting business so it

          5  is not affecting, adversely affecting our drivers.

          6                 MR. MATEO:  I understood it exactly

          7  the way you posed.  I believe that the Councilwoman

          8  was just basically saying we need to do something

          9  now.  But, I hear you, we are going to work on it,

         10  we are going to get you the information.  And I

         11  hope, in the very near future that we have hearings

         12  on other very important issues, such as, why does a

         13  yellow cab get a fine of $100 and a livery cab get a

         14  fine for $350 for the same offense, you know, which

         15  is an inspection sticker.  But that has nothing to

         16  do with these hearings, I believe we will have

         17  plenty of time to address many other issues.

         18                 And I think that next week, this City

         19  Council is going to be very surprised with an action

         20  that the New York State Federation of Taxi Drivers

         21  is taking on behalf of this industry. And we will, I

         22  am sure, sit down quickly after that action takes

         23  place next week, God willingly.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Thank you, Mr.

         25  Mateo.
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          2                 MR. MATEO:  So, once again, thank you

          3  all, I really appreciate it.  And I have got to get

          4  going because I have other things that I have got to

          5  do.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you for your

          7  time and coming down this afternoon.  Let's hear

          8  from Pedro Heredia from the New York City For- Hire

          9  Base Group.  Mr. Heredia, welcome.

         10                 MR. HEREDIA:  Thank you.  Good

         11  afternoon, Mr. Chairman Liu, Council members, and

         12  guests.  My name is Pedro Heredia, and I am the

         13  President of New York City - -

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Mr. Heredia, could

         15  you speak in front of the mic?

         16                 MR. HEREDIA:  Yes.  Good afternoon,

         17  Mr. Chairman, John Liu, Council members, and guests.

         18    My name is Pedro Heredia, and I am the President

         19  of the New York City For- Hire Base Group. Thank you

         20  for the opportunity to testify today.

         21                 In early May of this year, when the

         22  introduction of a bill that would finally amend the

         23  Administrative Codes of the City of New York was

         24  announced,  and in turn create the formation of a

         25  taxi cab and livery cab advisory/complaint board,
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          2  without a doubt, I can assure this Committed that

          3  when the news was heard, thousands of drivers, base

          4  station owners and fleet owners finally saw the

          5  light at the end of the tunnel.

          6                 This initiative by Council Member

          7  Miguel Martinez to amend the Administrative Code of

          8  the City of New York is of monumental proportion and

          9  importance.  Its result will create a win/win

         10  situation for everyone licensed under the Taxi and

         11  Limousine Commissioner.  As we say in the business,

         12  one happy driver equals one happy passenger.

         13                 The Administrative Code of the City

         14  of New York already ensures a complaint board, and a

         15  telephone hotline to oversee complaints from

         16  consumers of the services provided by the Taxi and

         17  Limousine Commission.

         18                 Presently, base owners, fleet owners,

         19  drivers, employees and employers of the Taxi and

         20  Limousine Industry do not have a source, an

         21  organization, or an official board to record or

         22  oversee their complaints or concerns.  One way we

         23  can ensure a level- playing field is, if the

         24  official board would be comprised of base station

         25  owners, black car industry, yellow cable
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          2  driver/owners, livery cable drivers/owners, et

          3  cetera.

          4                 Folks, time and effort no longer

          5  count, results do. This has to be a collective

          6  effort between the City of New York and everyone

          7  licensed under the Taxi and Limousine Commission.

          8                 Our organization, the New York City

          9  For- Hire Base Group, wishes to work hand- in- hand

         10  with this Transportation Committee and Commissioner

         11  Matthew Daus in the creation of this advisory

         12  complaint board.  Commissioner Daus exceptional

         13  professionalism, in pursuing a more dynamic and

         14  automated Commission has been very successful, and

         15  under his leadership and guidance, we will make this

         16  advisory complaint board a success.

         17                 As you know, only the status of the

         18  yellow cab and black car industry is clearly defined

         19  in the Administrative Code and the Charter books of

         20  the City of New York.  On the other hand, 75 percent

         21  of the transportation force of the City, which is

         22  comprised by the livery and for- hire industry has

         23  no legislation, or a clear and concise definition of

         24  which is which.

         25                 In the last 20 years, many believed
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          2  that the livery and the for- hire industry have been

          3  managed as a dysfunctional family, for the lack of

          4  guidance, support, and representation. This

          5  Committee cannot allow our industry to continue

          6  improvising on the lively- hood of over 1,000

          7  licensees.

          8                 A good example is the Administrative

          9  Code of the City of New York, which already provides

         10  provisions that ensures the creation of a Driver's

         11  Handbook for the yellow cab drivers.  It is my

         12  understanding that a driver's handbook for the City

         13  livery and for- hire cab drivers that would

         14  thoroughly explain the rules and regulations, their

         15  rights, and procedural information that pertains to

         16  the industry and the City of New York has been put

         17  aside or discontinued.  Because when the

         18  infrastructure division went into the Charter books

         19  and the Administrative Codes, they found  no rules,

         20  legislation or guidelines for the livery and for

         21  hire industry.  There is no clear or concise

         22  definition of who we are and what makes each group

         23  different for each other.

         24                 Upon the approval of this bill, this

         25  Transportation Committee becomes the turning point,
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          2  the dawning for a new age in transportation, your

          3  leadership will pave the way for future generations

          4  in the transportation industry.  And we need this

          5  Council's commitment, unwavering support and

          6  relentless pursuit in the creation of this advisory

          7  complaint board.

          8                 Once again, I thank you for the honor

          9  to testify in your presence, here today.  And if I

         10  may, Mr. Chairman, I would just like to acknowledge

         11  Council Member Miguel Martinez for his unwavering

         12  support in the creation of this bill.

         13                 I thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you for your

         15  time this afternoon.  Are there any questions from

         16  the Committee members.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Council Member

         19  Martinez.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Thank you,

         21  Mr. Heredia, for testifying and for supporting the

         22  bill.  I just want to hear from you in terms of what

         23  suggestion will you give in reference to the members

         24  that would make up this board, and what you envision

         25  in this terms of the selection of the members of the
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          2  advisory board? Or do you agree that the Commission

          3  should not be the body to appoint or recommend the

          4  members, and if so, why?

          5                 MR. HEREDIA:  I do agree on that.

          6  First of all, we can no longer allow the

          7  Commissioner of the TLC to continue improvising on

          8  our industry.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  You agree

         10  or you disagree, do you agree or disagree that the

         11  Commission should select.

         12                 MR. HEREDIA:  I disagree that the

         13  Commissioner should be involved in the creation of

         14  the complaint board.  But it should not be his

         15  ultimate decision on what the delegates of that

         16  commission should be.  That is why we must include

         17  every group, the black car industry, the yellow cab

         18  industry, the for- hire and the fleet groups, as

         19  well.  And only then will we have a level- playing

         20  field.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Are there any other

         23  questions for Mr. Heredia?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Mr. Chair?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  If I may, I

          3  just want to acknowledge the members of the livery

          4  car industry that are here for the hearing today,

          5  that are joining us from the different Boroughs,

          6  Queens, Brooklyn, Manhattan, the Bronx.  It is a

          7  Coalition of Concerned Drivers who are working to

          8  bring change into the industry, and they join us

          9  today.  Thank you for being today, and for the

         10  support that you are giving this Committee, in

         11  particular.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you for being

         13  here, I know time is precious, and it is great of

         14  you to come down, these are very important issues at

         15  hand.

         16                 MR. HEREDIA:  Thank you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  Let me

         18  call up the next panel.  We have David Pollack from

         19  the Committee for Taxi Safety, and Eugene Pero and

         20  Joseph Scalice from the Livery Owner Coalition of

         21  New York.  If you gentlemen would join us at the

         22  same time, that will be helpful, unless you prefer

         23  not, then we will call you up next.

         24                 Mr. Pollack, welcome.

         25                 MR. POLLACK:  Thank you, Chairman
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          2  Liu, thank you, Council members who are left.  Did

          3  you receive my testimony?  That was sent down last

          4  week, 30 copies on each bill.  No?  Mr. Adler must

          5  not be familiar with City Hall and delivered it

          6  somewhere else.

          7                 My name is David Pollack, and I am

          8  the Executive Director of the Committee for Taxi

          9  Safety, an association of licensed leasing agents

         10  representing approximately 2,000 yellow medallion

         11  taxis and the 4,000 drivers who work with our

         12  association.  The Committee For Taxi Safety supports

         13  the establishment of a Drivers' Advisory Board to

         14  advise the Commission on matters of safety,

         15  conditions of work, and the fair enforcement of laws

         16  and rules.  We commend Council Member Martinez and

         17  his colleagues for introducing this bill.

         18                 However, no provision has been made

         19  among the categories of Committee members for the

         20  Trade Associations, such as ours, that represent the

         21  majority of owners, leasers, and leasees of yellow

         22  medallion taxis.  I am a third generation taxi

         23  driver with experience and knowledge that could

         24  benefit the new advisory panel.

         25                 As the Executive Director of the
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          2  Committee for Taxi Safety, I have met with industry

          3  leaders, owners, brokers, lenders, and frequently

          4  with the Taxi and Limousine Commission to discuss

          5  issues relating to the industry.  Our association

          6  represents the concerns of the people who have a

          7  financial interest in the taxis, and those who make

          8  their living behind the wheel of the cab.  We

          9  believe that our expertise and experience make our

         10  association qualified to be part of such an advisory

         11  panel, and I urge you to amend the Intro. To include

         12  the Trade Associations among the categories of

         13  constituent members of the panel.  Thank you for

         14  inviting our testimony.

         15                 Regarding Intro. 178, that was very

         16  interesting.  I have a lot to say about it.  Let me

         17  just read the testimony.  You know who I am, I am

         18  not going to repeat that.  I commend Council Member

         19  Reyna and her colleagues for introducing the

         20  legislation that would rectify a problem concerning

         21  the New York City For- Hire Industry regarding

         22  procedures related to a defective trouble light.

         23                 The Committee for Taxi Safety

         24  requests that our industry be included in this bill,

         25  since we share the same procedural problems as the
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          2  for- hire industry.  Taking the Intro. A step

          3  further, we would like to see the same procedures

          4  set forth in Intro. 178 extended to include all

          5  light bulbs on yellow taxis and for- hire vehicles.

          6  Such a step, I ensure you, would improve service to

          7  the public, because taxis and for- hire vehicles

          8  would be on the street working rather than spending

          9  time appearing to pay summonses.

         10                 And, once again, I would like to

         11  thank you for allowing us to testify.

         12                 Any questions?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  Are

         14  there any questions?  Council Member Martinez.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Concerning

         16  the trouble light, again.  Do you experience, would

         17  you say that you experience the same issues in terms

         18  of regulations concerning the trouble light and the

         19  enforcement on behalf of the police in terms of

         20  safety?  Let's say your drivers will drive with the

         21  light on and not be stopped, and the same issue of

         22  the summons being paid and at the same time having

         23  to make the correction without giving you a grace

         24  period to make the correction and having to pay the

         25  summons?
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          2                 MR. POLLACK:  Yes.  Additionally, I

          3  think that one factor that was not mentioned was

          4  many summonses are given for a defective trouble

          5  light, when the trouble light is not defective. And

          6  I believe that occurs in both industries, for- hire

          7  and yellow.

          8                 Also, the 15 days may be too long.

          9  If someone is summons or given a condition to fix,

         10  it really should be within 48 hours.  What happens

         11  if the light bulb goes out during the shift, during

         12  the course of work, and if it happens on a Sunday,

         13  he cannot fix it, so that is why we agree with

         14  Councilwoman Reyna, 48 hours is very fair.  I do not

         15  think that we really see many condition requests to

         16  fix things that are broken.  The yellow taxi

         17  industry generally receives summonses, we are not

         18  given the opportunity to correct.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  On the

         20  advisory board, mainly your organization represents

         21  owners; is that correct?

         22                 MR. POLLACK:  That is not correct.  I

         23  guess I will re- read my testimony.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Yes,

         25  because I do not, yes.
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          2                 MR. POLLACK:  The Committee For Taxi

          3  Safety is an association of licensed leasing agents

          4  representing approximately 2,000 yellow medallion

          5  taxis and the 4,000 drivers who work with our

          6  association.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  But you are

          8  included in the bill in terms of the cab drivers,

          9  yellow cab drivers and yellow cab driver owners

         10  being part of the advisory board.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  He is talking about

         12  the other bill.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  No, no, did

         14  you not mention that in the advisory, the creation

         15  of the advisory board you were left out, or did I

         16  hear you wrong?

         17                 MR. POLLACK:  No, you heard us

         18  correctly.  We represent licensed leasing agents.

         19  We are the middle men between the owners and the

         20  drivers.  The drivers are our customers, so

         21  represent them in a sense.  The owners are our

         22  customers also, we represent them.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Got you.

         24                 MR. POLLACK: But without the drivers,

         25  we are nothing.  And I would like the Committee for
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          2  Taxi Safety to be considered for that.  You know, we

          3  would consider it an honor to participate in this

          4  panel.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  I got you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Council Member

          7  Reyna.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Mr. Pollack, I

          9  just wanted to thank you, publicly, for coming to

         10  testify.  And I wanted to request a corrected, I do

         11  not know if you included the 48- hour suggestion in

         12  your testimony.

         13                 MR. POLLACK:  You do have my

         14  testimony, then.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  No, we do not.

         16                 MR. POLLACK:  Oh, okay.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  So if you

         18  could include the 48 hours, your support for a 48-

         19  hour period as a way of cooperating with amending

         20  the bill, and in full support of it.  And I look

         21  forward to further discussion as we progress with

         22  this particular item.

         23                 MR. POLLACK:  As soon as the budget

         24  is done, I will.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Yes, and your
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          2  testimony exactly includes the, mention the

          3  inclusion of yellow cabs as well, and I will take

          4  that as well in your testimony so that I can further

          5  discuss it with TLC and the Administration.

          6                 MR. POLLACK:  Thank you.

          7  Councilwoman.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  My pleasure.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thanks for your

         10  patience this afternoon, Mr. Pollack.

         11                 MR. POLLACK:  You are quite welcome.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Maybe now we can

         13  get the Livery Owners Coalition of New York, Mr.

         14  Pero and Mr. Scalice.

         15                 MR. PERO:  I just want to ask one

         16  question before I speak.  How can Fernando Mateo

         17  represent 20,000 livery drivers, and I represent

         18  20,000 livery drivers, how does that work out?  All

         19  joking aside.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  You can answer that

         21  in your testimony.

         22                 MR. PERO:  All joking aside.  Good

         23  afternoon, ladies and gentlemen of the City Council,

         24  and other distinguished guests. My name is Eugene

         25  Pero.  I am the President of the Livery Owners

                                                            100

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  Coalition of New York, which for the past 12 years

          3  has represented livery owners and drivers throughout

          4  the five boroughs.

          5                 I am here today to comment on two

          6  proposals before you, namely, Intro. 178 and Intro.

          7  195- A.

          8                 With regard to Intro. 178, regarding

          9  defective trouble lights, this law should be

         10  implemented as quickly as possible.  I am attaching

         11  to my written comments, a copy of the Vehicle and

         12  Traffic Law regarding defective head lamps and other

         13  equipment failures.  As you will see, the Statement

         14  of Correction is attached to the bottom, and one may

         15  mail in the repair statement from an authorized

         16  garage, attesting that the repair was made with 24

         17  hours of issuance of summons.  You have 7 days to

         18  submit this evidence, at which time the summons is

         19  dismissed.  This in only fair and reasonable, as

         20  equipment failures can occur at any time. The VTL

         21  rules should apply to the TLC rules, which, as they

         22  stand, are punitive no matter when the defective

         23  trouble light is repaired.

         24                 I would just like to make a comment,

         25  and a lot of things were made before.  Basically,
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          2  with duplicity of summons that was brought, I mean,

          3  they can issue a summons to the Corporation of the

          4  vehicle, and then they could issue a summons to the

          5  base.  That has been corrected through the Livery

          6  Advisory Board to a certain stance.  They have been

          7  stopping the doubling of summons.

          8                 But there is also another problem,

          9  besides the $100 ticket for a 29 cent bulb, the guy

         10  has to go to court waste sickle, seven hours there,

         11  and then even if you do bring in a repair slip, you

         12  are still convicted of the violation.  So it just

         13  kills the driver's day wages, and maybe two days'

         14  wages.

         15                 Secondly, I would like to address

         16  Intro. 195- A, creating an advisory board of

         17  drivers, owners, et cetera, in the livery industry.

         18  This is an excellent idea.  However, as you may or

         19  may not know, the Taxi and Limousine Commission has

         20  had in place for many years a Livery Advisory Board,

         21  which meets approximately once a month to discuss

         22  issues concerning drivers and owners and other

         23  livery matters.  This Board is comprised of both

         24  fleet base owners and independent operator base

         25  owners.  It is my opinion that the members of this
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          2  Livery Advisory Board should automatically be

          3  included as part of the new Board created by this

          4  law.  The Livery Advisory Board members are

          5  experienced in dealing with the Taxi and Limousine

          6  Commission and they can serve in an advisory

          7  capacity to the members of the new Livery Board.

          8                 In fact, just a few days ago, a list

          9  of proposed TLC rule changes was submitted to

         10  Chairman Matthew Daus by my organization.  Many

         11  hours were spent going over each and every TLC rule

         12  and regulation.  The very rule being discussed today

         13  with regard to trouble lights and receiving a 24-

         14  hour window to repair, is part of the changes

         15  submitted by us.  The Chair has graciously consented

         16  to spending a great deal of time and effort going

         17  over these rule changes and holding discussions with

         18  the Livery Advisory Board with regard to this.

         19                 This information would not have been

         20  available to a new livery board and complaints with

         21  regard to some of the rules and regulations have

         22  been redundant.  It is, therefore, imperative that

         23  some or all of the six advisory board members join

         24  in with the select drivers on the Livery Board

         25  contemplated by Intro. No. 195 A.
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          2                 It is of utmost importance that only

          3  owners rule out drivers currently employed in the

          4  livery industry comprise any Livery Board.  The

          5  people whose livelihood depends on the livery

          6  industry should be the only people who make the

          7  decisions regarding it.  In order to qualify for

          8  members of any Livery Board, a person must either

          9  own a base, have a current job, working as a driver

         10  for a base, or own a licensed vehicle.  Anyone not

         11  directly affected by the decisions of the Taxi and

         12  Limousine Commission should be precluded from

         13  serving on this Board.

         14                 Thank you for you attention.  We are

         15  looking forward to working with all of you on livery

         16  matters.  Thank you very much.               CHAIRPERSON

         17  LIU:  Thank you for coming down this afternoon.

         18  Sir, do you have separate testimony in addition?

         19                 MR. PERO:  This is Joe Scalice from

         20  the Staten Island - -

         21                 MR. SCALICE:  I am from the Staten

         22  Island Livery Owners Association, and I would like

         23  to point out that if the trouble light was the one

         24  and only means by which we could tell a driver was

         25  in trouble, then I would think that Chairman Daus
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          2  was on the right track, and usually he is, but not

          3  on this one, he is not.

          4                 There are several avenues in which a

          5  driver is protected.  There is a partition, there is

          6  a camera, there is a two- way radio.  A lot of two-

          7  way radios have a trouble light on them, that when

          8  you press it, it lights up in the office, you can

          9  see if a driver is in trouble.

         10                 As far as having the NYPD paying

         11  attention to the trouble lights, I think that is

         12  pretty much a hit and miss that needs to be

         13  basically corrected by communication between the

         14  Taxi Commission and the NYPD.  And that I would

         15  also, respectfully request, that if there was any

         16  study being done by Fernando Mateo or anyone, that

         17  Staten Island Livery be included and be allowed to

         18  participate, and to also be a part of that study.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.

         21  Councilwoman Reyna.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  I just wanted

         23  to thank both of you for coming down to testify.

         24  And I wanted to personally thank my good friend,

         25  Gene Pero, for having discussed this with me early
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          2  on, and making this a priority as far as issues

          3  concerning our TLC Commission.  I know that he is a

          4  phenomenal advocate to making sure that all rights

          5  to the industry are always followed. And it is

          6  something that you have always been committed to,

          7  and I wanted to, personally, thank you for it.

          8                 MR. PERO:  I want to thank the

          9  Committee, and especially you, Diana Reyna, Miguel

         10  Martinez and other people on the Transportation

         11  Committee.  I think we are going to have a long time

         12  working together, especially with John Liu, very

         13  interesting, and the rest of the Transportation

         14  Committee.  I thank you very much.  I know you have

         15  a budget hearing and you want to get out of here, so

         16  we are going to leave too.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Hold on, Council

         18  Member Martinez.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Thank you.

         20  I just have one question, in reference to the

         21  current advisory board.  Can you just tell me what

         22  is the process in terms of selection to the members

         23  of this Board?

         24                 MR. PERO:  Basically, from, if you

         25  are an activist in the industry, okay, like we have
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          2  been, Joe, and all the members who have been

          3  participating in working with the industry, whether

          4  it is the drivers or the bases to correct the

          5  problems, whether they are insurance, TLC, so forth

          6  and so on.  Legislation that comes down from Albany,

          7  or even the City Council.

          8                 So what happens is that, basically,

          9  it would be brought to the attention of the Chair,

         10  the person would have to go through DOY

         11  Investigation, and then at that point, the Chair

         12  would approve the person to the Livery Advisory

         13  Board.

         14                 I like the way your bill is written,

         15  where you select people, the City Council member of

         16  that Borough or Boroughs select persons.  That is my

         17  interpretation of the bill, and where it is more, it

         18  is not corrupted, so- to- say, you know.  I mean, we

         19  do a lot of fighting up there, I do not want you to

         20  think from what one of the speakers said at the

         21  beginning that we are coerced or we go along with

         22  the Chair as a matter of helping our own selves, we

         23  do not do that.  We basically, if there is an issue,

         24  we take that issue and we fight it tooth and nail.

         25  And I do not care who he is, I would do the same
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          2  thing with you, if I felt that I was right. And that

          3  is the way we fight up there.  But it is just a

          4  matter of getting it to the floor and fighting,

          5  whatever the issue is with the TLC.

          6                 Any other question?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Yes, one last

          8  question from Council Member Seabrook.

          9                 MR. PERO:  Sure.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Thank you

         11  very much, Mr. Chairman.  Just a question, there was

         12  a statement that was made, and perhaps you can yes,

         13  no, or elaborate on it.

         14                 MR. PERO:  Sure.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  In

         16  reference to the rules and regulations that was

         17  stated that these rules and regulations are never

         18  distributed to the drivers in any capacity from the

         19  Taxi and Limousine Commission.

         20                 MR. PERO:  Let me say something to

         21  you, Council Member Seabrook.  When the TLC

         22  implemented the 17 rules and regulations, around

         23  1998, and we were on the Livery Advisory Board, I

         24  have been on the Livery Advisory Board for 10 years,

         25  he has been on there probably 15, 20 years, Mr.
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          2  Scalice.  And when I was sitting at the table, Matt

          3  Daus was not the Chair at that time, it was Mrs.

          4  McKechnie, and not to make less of her, but I said,

          5  who is going to receive this book of rules and

          6  regulations that I have in my hand?  Well the people

          7  on our mailing lists.  I said, all the drivers, the

          8  bases on the mailing lists.  Well, not necessarily.

          9  And I made it a point at that Livery Advisory Board

         10  to tell them that every driver should receive this

         11  book, and I still feel that way.  They should know

         12  exactly, whether it is written in Spanish or

         13  English, it does not really matter, okay, but they

         14  should all of a book.  Their own organizations, like

         15  the one I represent, my people get information from

         16  me, I get it from the TLC, I get it from State

         17  Legislature, I get it from the City Council, and I

         18  feed this to my members.  All my members have this

         19  book, all the bases, okay, which were basically

         20  fleet owned bases.  So we control all our vehicles.

         21                 But when you talk about independent

         22  bases, every driver should have one.  It should be

         23  mandated by you guys that they should have this

         24  book.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Thank you
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          2  very much, Mr. Pero.  Thank you, Chair.

          3                 MR. PERO:  Thank you, Mr. Seabrook.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you for

          5  coming down this afternoon.

          6                 MR. PERO:  My pleasure, and I hope

          7  the budget hearing goes good.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  We will

          9  now here from the New York Taxi Workers Alliance,

         10  Kevin Fitzpatrick and Biju Mathew, and Chaumtoli

         11  Huq.  Welcome, and thanks for your patience this

         12  afternoon.

         13                 MR. MATHEW:  My name is Biju Mathew,

         14  and I am a member of the Organizing Committee of the

         15  New York Taxi Workers Alliance.  I have been a

         16  member of the Organizing Committee for seven years.

         17  Kevin Fitzpatrick has also been a member of the

         18  Organizing Committee for four years, for five years,

         19  and also, has been a driver for more than 22 years.

         20  Chaumtoli Huq is also a member of the Organizing

         21  Committee and the Staff Attorney for the New York

         22  Taxi Workers Alliance.

         23                 Just wanted to say a couple of words,

         24  quickly, about the Taxi Workers Alliance.  We are a

         25  membership based organization with more than 300
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          2  members, primarily yellow cab drivers, and we

          3  represent all segments of yellow cab drivers, lease

          4  drivers, driver/owner operators, and honor drivers.

          5  We have been working in the industry for over nine

          6  years, and our mass base organization's primary

          7  objectives are economic justice, better working

          8  conditions for drivers, respect and dignity for

          9  drivers.

         10                 Now a brief history on both of these

         11  proposed legislations.  They have been part of our

         12  demand set for well over five years.  In 1997, the

         13  then Chair of the Taxi and Limousine Commission,

         14  Diane McGrath- McKechnie, actually in a letter to

         15  the Taxi Workers Alliance, actually agreed to get

         16  rid of the summons system for all minor vehicle

         17  violations, including trouble lights, and parking

         18  lights, and indicator lights, et cetera.  But a

         19  couple of months down the line, just before they

         20  announced the 17- rule package, they broke off all

         21  communication on the grounds that their computer

         22  program was not working, and, therefore, they could

         23  not implement the idea that we had suggested and

         24  they had agreed to it at that point.

         25                 Also, the idea for Driver Advisory
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          2  Committee has been something that we suggested way

          3  back in 1997, and was part of the initial bits of

          4  negotiation with the TLC.

          5                 I will say a few words about the

          6  Driver Advisory Board idea, and then Kevin will

          7  speak about the trouble light and that legislation.

          8                 The idea of a Drivers' Advisory

          9  Board, as I said, was something that has been part

         10  of our demand set for more than five years.  It is

         11  an excellent idea, it is a must in this industry

         12  when the voice of drivers is often the voice that is

         13  never really heard.

         14                 Three very clear points, or four very

         15  clear points that I need to make:

         16                 1.  Is that we must ensure

         17  representation of our range of drivers, driver-

         18  operator, regular operators, DOV operators, livery

         19  drivers, lease drivers, owner drivers, a whole range

         20  of operators.

         21                 2.  I believe that it is not enough

         22  to just have an Advisory Board.  If the taxi

         23  industry has to be an industry that is regulated by

         24  a set of people who have an intricate understanding

         25  of the taxi industry, than who better than drivers
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          2  to serve on the Taxi and Limousine Commission,

          3  itself.  I would say that the idea of the Advisory

          4  Board is a good starting point, but we must take it

          5  forward to ensure driver representation on the Taxi

          6  and Limousine Commission, itself.

          7                 3.  Some should's and should not's.

          8  I will start with the should not's.  Many people

          9  have already made the point that the Taxi and

         10  Limousine Commission should not be part of the

         11  selection process of the drivers who will be on the

         12  Driver Advisory Board.  I completely, we completely

         13  endorse that position, simply because of the

         14  conflict of interest.  If you just look at the

         15  amount of money the Taxi and Limousine Commission

         16  makes from the drivers, from the hard earned money

         17  that the drivers put together, you will know there

         18  is a conflict of interest.

         19                 Just as that is the case, there is

         20  also, another set of people who should not have

         21  anything to do with the representatives on the

         22  Driver Advisory Board, which is the ownership

         23  industry.  The garage owners, the brokers, the lease

         24  managers, all of these people are people who daily

         25  are part of an exploited cycle, which exploits
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          2  drives.  If you talking about conflict of interest,

          3  it is a conflict of interest with the TLC having

          4  anything to do with it as much as the ownership

          5  having anything to do with it.

          6                 So that about that legislation.

          7  Kevin.

          8                 MR. FITZPATRICK:  Hi, I would like to

          9  talk on the issue of notices.  New York Taxi Workers

         10  Alliance, we support notices over fines, we think it

         11  should be for both livery and for yellow cabs, and

         12  it should be for all bulbs.

         13                 Now I will tell you, I have driven

         14  black cars and yellow cabs for 22 years, I never

         15  heard of a driver purposefully going to work and

         16  saying, well, I am going to go to work with a broken

         17  bulb.  Now remember these are cars that are used

         18  fourteen, fifteen, sixteen hundred miles a week.

         19  You know, in this industry when you get 100,000

         20  miles on the car, you say, well, you are just

         21  breaking the engine in.  These cars put up, you

         22  know, these cars go through a lot of stress, and

         23  something has got to break.  Drivers do not know

         24  that these things happen.

         25                 Now with the TLC, it used to be
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          2  before there were fines, there was a system where of

          3  notices.  And I assure you when the police and the

          4  TLC gave you the notice, you took the car and you

          5  got the thing fixed.  Nobody likes to work with

          6  broken equipment, this is a fact.  I mean, for

          7  example, with talking about a brake light, well, if

          8  you know your brake lights are not working, you are

          9  going to go and get them fixed, because you do not

         10  want to get hit in the back with a Mack truck.

         11  Remember, the TLC saw to it that drivers, that

         12  yellow drivers lost their health insurance, so you

         13  better be careful.

         14                 You know, we support the notice

         15  systems.  Many drivers now think that, I take a lot

         16  of livery cabs, I live out in Brooklyn, a lot of the

         17  livery drivers say about the lights, well, all this

         18  is, is the TLC gaining revenue from us.  You know,

         19  the panic light is a good idea, no doubt about it,

         20  but, you know, it is one tool among many.  And if it

         21  works fine, but remember, this light, you are not

         22  using it all the time, hopefully, you are not using

         23  it at all.  So drivers, if it breaks in the rain,

         24  you are not going to find it out.

         25                 We support notices and we think it
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          2  should be for all bulbs and for all sectors of the

          3  industry, yellow, livery, black.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 MS. HUQ:  If I may?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Yes.

          7                 MS. HUQ:  Make some comments again.

          8  My name is Chaumtoli Huq.  I am the Staff Attorney

          9  for the Taxi Workers Alliance.  And one of the

         10  things that is most heartening as an attorney is

         11  when you see your petitions, unfortunately, not

         12  brought up by the Taxi and Limousine Commission, but

         13  thankfully, by the City Council and the

         14  Transportation Committee, and for that, as Mr.

         15  Mathew mentioned, both, and I want to stress this

         16  point, both the Notice to Correct Program, as well

         17  as the Driver Advisory Board, were both brought to

         18  the TLC.  There was not way to overstep its

         19  authority, but it was brought through the TLC.  And

         20  the reason I want to stress that point, that the

         21  need for an independent body, I think there has been

         22  a lot of concern that TLC play an active role in

         23  this advisory board.  And I just want to sort of

         24  drive home the point that there is a need for an

         25  independent driver only, not a trade associations,
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          2  garages and brokers.

          3                 My mom is 1199 member, no one will

          4  say, you know, as company or managers we need to go

          5  into your union.  You know, for example, in some

          6  respects, because there is no union officially

          7  within this industry, this will function in some

          8  ways to represent the concerns and issues of drivers

          9  without being intimidated by the ownership.  I just

         10  want to stress that.

         11                 The other things I want to extend is

         12  that there have been a lot of recommendations made,

         13  there are details on the Board that really need to

         14  be served, spelled out, I want to extend myself, as

         15  well as the Alliance, in terms of drafting these,

         16  what the Board is going to look like, who is going

         17  to nominate these members, because the integrity and

         18  the independence of this advisory board is critical.

         19    Otherwise, it would really become one other board

         20  that already exists within the TLC  And we would

         21  like to see this particular board truly be a

         22  driver's board, and again, this is a starting point.

         23    Ultimately, I hope, that there is a driver on the

         24  Commission.  Currently, there is no driver

         25  representation on the Taxi and Limousine Commission.

                                                            117

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2    To me that just seems so unfair and just

          3  fundamentally against the notions of democracy and

          4  representation that your interest are not even on

          5  the Commission that regulates your industry and your

          6  livelihood.

          7                 So we just see this as the beginning

          8  point, ensure its integrity.  And again, I want to

          9  extend myself in terms of working with you to detail

         10  the legislation, the Notice to Correct Program, as

         11  well as to ensure that there is an open dialogue on

         12  other issues concerning the taxi industry.

         13                 Thank you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you for

         15  coming down this afternoon.  Are there any questions

         16  from the Council members?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  More than a

         18  comment, Mr. Chair.  Actually, Mr. Chair, I will

         19  speak to her off the record.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.  There are no

         21  more questions.  Thank you very much for your

         22  testimony, and look forward to working with you on

         23  many other issues, as well.

         24                 MR. MATHEW:  Thank you.  We just have

         25  given you all the packets, which will detail a lot
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          2  of other issues also, which you have been speaking

          3  about.

          4                 So thanks much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Right.  We also

          6  have another person who requested to present

          7  testimony, Damian Rodriguez, who may have already

          8  departed.  If there are no more witnesses this

          9  afternoon, this meeting is adjourned.

         10                 (Hearing concluded at 4:30 p.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, PAT WTULICH, a Notary Public in

         10  and for the State of New York, do hereby certify

         11  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         12  of the within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 20th day of June 2002.
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